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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

DigitalBridge Group, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except per share data)

March 31, 2024
(Unaudited) December 31, 2023

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 247,354 $ 345,335 
Restricted cash 4,787 4,915 
Investments ($574,532 and $572,749 at fair value) 2,488,826 2,476,093 
Goodwill 465,602 465,991 
Intangible assets 95,131 103,750 
Other assets 73,871 78,953 
Due from affiliates 87,666 85,815 
Assets of discontinued operations 579 1,698 

Total assets $ 3,463,816 $ 3,562,550 
Liabilities

Debt $ 366,506 $ 371,783 
Other liabilities ($67,187 and $124,019 at fair value) 573,961 681,451 
Liabilities of discontinued operations 918 153 

Total liabilities 941,385 1,053,387 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 19,596 17,862 
Equity
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share; $821,899 liquidation preference; 250,000 shares
authorized; 32,876 shares issued and outstanding 794,670 794,670 
Common stock, $0.01 par value per share

Class A, 237,250 shares authorized; 166,052 and 163,209 shares issued and outstanding 1,660 1,632 
Class B, 250 shares authorized; 166 shares issued and outstanding 2 2 

Additional paid-in capital 7,909,865 7,855,842 
Accumulated deficit (6,888,452) (6,842,502)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 712 1,411 

Total stockholders’ equity 1,818,457 1,811,055 
     Noncontrolling interests in investment entities 610,692 605,311 
     Noncontrolling interests in Operating Company 73,686 74,935 
Total equity 2,502,835 2,491,301 
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests and equity $ 3,463,816 $ 3,562,550 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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DigitalBridge Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2024 2023
Revenues

Fee revenue ($69,811 and $56,389 from affiliates) $ 72,955 $ 59,126 
Carried interest allocation (reversal) (8,478) (54,756)
Principal investment income 2,845 3,562 
Other income ($2,486 and $1,253 from affiliates) 7,071 10,564 

Total revenues 74,393 18,496 
Expenses

Interest expense 5,192 8,131 
Transaction-related costs 760 8,527 
Depreciation and amortization 9,167 6,875 
Compensation expense—cash and equity-based 51,184 47,471 
Compensation expense—incentive fee and carried interest allocation (reversal) (6,714) (36,831)
Administrative and other expenses 24,310 20,447 

Total expenses 83,899 54,620 
Other income (loss)

Other gain (loss), net (5,894) (144,514)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (15,400) (180,638)

Income tax benefit (expense) (1,246) (1,098)
Income (loss) from continuing operations (16,646) (181,736)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (14,120) (110,608)
Net income (loss) (30,766) (292,344)
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests:

Redeemable noncontrolling interests 733 6,943 
Investment entities 1,467 (84,828)
Operating Company (3,338) (16,662)

Net income (loss) attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. (29,628) (197,797)
Preferred stock dividends 14,660 14,676 

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ (44,288) $ (212,473)
Income (loss) per share—basic

Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share—basic $ (0.20) $ (1.19)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per common share—basic $ (0.28) $ (1.34)

Income (loss) per share—diluted
Income (Loss) from continuing operations per common share—diluted $ (0.20) $ (1.19)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per common share—diluted $ (0.28) $ (1.34)

Weighted average number of shares
Basic 161,043 158,446 
Diluted 161,043 158,446 

Dividends declared per common share $ 0.01 $ 0.01 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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DigitalBridge Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2024 2023
Net income (loss) $ (30,766) $ (292,344)
Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to:

Equity method investments — 318 
Foreign currency translation (754) (231)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (754) 87 
Comprehensive income (loss) (31,520) (292,257)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests:

Redeemable noncontrolling interests 733 6,943 
Investment entities 1,467 (84,793)
Operating Company (3,392) (16,643)

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to stockholders $ (30,328) $ (197,764)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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DigitalBridge Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Equity

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
Preferred

Stock
Common

Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Stockholders’

Equity

Noncontrolling
Interests in
Investment

Entities

Noncontrolling
Interests in
Operating
Company Total Equity 

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 800,355 $ 6,397 $7,818,068 $(6,962,613) $ (1,509) $ 1,660,698 $ 2,743,896 $ 64,895 $4,469,489 
Net income (loss) — — — (197,797) — (197,797) (84,828) (16,662) (299,287)
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — 33 33 35 19 87 
Common stock repurchases (52) — — — — (52) — — (52)
Equity-based compensation — 99 10,930 — — 11,029 5,542 41 16,612 
Shares canceled for tax withholdings on

vested equity awards — (16) (4,847) — — (4,863) — — (4,863)
Contributions from noncontrolling

interests — — — — — — 29,684 — 29,684 
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (43,436) (126) (43,562)
Preferred stock dividends — — — (14,676) — (14,676) — — (14,676)
Common stock dividends declared

($0.01 per share) — — — (1,620) — (1,620) — — (1,620)
Reallocation of equity (Notes 2 and 9) — — (429) — (2) (431) — 431 — 

Balance at March 31, 2023 $ 800,303 $ 6,480 $7,823,722 $(7,176,706) $ (1,478) $ 1,452,321 $ 2,650,893 $ 48,598 $4,151,812 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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DigitalBridge Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Equity (Continued)

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
Preferred

Stock
Common

Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Stockholders’

Equity

Noncontrolling
Interests in
Investment

Entities

Noncontrolling
Interests in
Operating
Company Total Equity 

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 794,670 $ 1,634 $7,855,842 $(6,842,502) $ 1,411 $ 1,811,055 $ 605,311 $ 74,935 $2,491,301 
Net income (loss) — — — (29,628) — (29,628) 1,467 (3,338) (31,499)
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — (700) (700) — (54) (754)
Settlement of Wafra contingent

consideration (Note 6) — 10 17,490 — — 17,500 — — 17,500 
Reclassification of warrants (Note 10) — — 33,000 — — 33,000 — — 33,000 
Exchange of notes for common stock

(Note 7) — 7 5,934 — — 5,941 — — 5,941 
Redemption of OP Units for class A

common stock — 1 514 — — 515 — (515) — 
Equity-based compensation — 14 8,127 — — 8,141 — 39 8,180 
Shares canceled for tax withholdings

on vested equity awards — (4) (8,299) — — (8,303) — — (8,303)
Contributions from noncontrolling

interests — — — — — — 8,609 — 8,609 
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (4,695) (123) (4,818)
Preferred stock dividends — — — (14,660) — (14,660) — — (14,660)
Common stock dividends declared

($0.01 per share) — — — (1,662) — (1,662) — — (1,662)
Reallocation of equity (Notes 2 and 9) — — (2,743) — 1 (2,742) — 2,742 — 

Balance at March 31, 2024 $ 794,670 $ 1,662 $7,909,865 $(6,888,452) $ 712 $ 1,818,457 $ 610,692 $ 73,686 $2,502,835 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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DigitalBridge Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2024 2023
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $ (30,766) $ (292,344)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount and premium, net 664 12,182 
Unrealized carried interest allocation 8,478 55,313 
Unrealized principal investment income (468) (3,562)
Other equity method (earnings) losses — 10,609 
Depreciation and amortization 9,167 141,574 
Equity-based compensation 8,680 16,612 
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (734) 881 
Other (gain) loss, net 19,267 142,644 
Other adjustments, net 32 (1,566)
(Increase) decrease in other assets and due from affiliates 1,940 20,757 
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities and due to affiliates (43,269) (83,366)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (27,009) 19,734 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Contributions to and acquisition of equity investments (59,129) (140,998)
Return of capital from equity method investments 15,979 52,259 
Proceeds from sale of equity investments 23,471 308,254 
Acquisition of and additions to real estate, related intangibles and leasing commissions — (163,157)
Investment deposits 766 (5,704)
Net receipt (payment) on settlement of derivatives — 3,401 
Acquisition of InfraBridge, net of cash acquired (Note 3) — (313,164)
Purchase of fixed assets (3,055) — 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (21,968) (259,109)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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DigitalBridge Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2024 2023
Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Dividends paid to preferred stockholders $ (14,660) $ (14,766)
Dividends paid to common stockholders (1,634) (1,599)
Borrowings from investment level debt — 1,241,890 
Repayments of investment level debt — (1,060,239)
Payment of deferred financing costs and prepayment penalties on investment level debt — (29,482)
Contributions from noncontrolling interests 9,609 29,684 
Distributions to and redemptions of noncontrolling interests (15,983) (43,839)
Payment of contingent consideration to Wafra (17,500) (90,000)
Shares canceled for tax withholdings on vested equity awards (8,303) (4,863)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (48,471) 26,786 
Effect of exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (661) 64 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (98,109) (212,525)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash—beginning of period 350,250 1,036,739 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash—end of period $ 252,141 $ 824,214 

    

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash to consolidated balance sheets

Three Months Ended March 31,
2024 2023

Beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents $ 345,335 $ 855,564 
Restricted cash 4,915 4,854 
Assets of discontinued operations—cash and cash equivalents — 62,690 
Assets of discontinued operations—restricted cash — 113,631 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash—beginning of period $ 350,250 $ 1,036,739 

End of period
Cash and cash equivalents $ 247,354 $ 603,427 
Restricted cash 4,787 3,428 
Assets of discontinued operations—cash and cash equivalents — 65,097 
Assets of discontinued operations—restricted cash — 152,262 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash—end of period $ 252,141 $ 824,214 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Three Months Ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest $ 5,691 $ 53,375 
Cash received (paid) for income taxes 836 1,463 
Operating lease payments for corporate offices 2,352 2,078 

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities of discontinued operations $ 431 $ 67,796 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of discontinued operations 27 86,817 

Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities
Dividends and distributions payable $ 16,563 $ 16,444 
Receivables from asset sales — 2,282 
Redemption of OP Units for common stock 515 — 
Exchange of notes into shares of Class A common stock 5,941 — 
Settlement of Wafra contingent consideration through issuance of Class A common stock 17,500 — 
Preferred stock repurchase payable — 52 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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DigitalBridge Group, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2024
(Unaudited)

1. Business and Organization

DigitalBridge Group, Inc. ("DBRG," and together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the "Company") is a leading global digital
infrastructure investment manager. The Company deploys and manages capital on behalf of its investors and shareholders across the digital
infrastructure ecosystem, including data centers, cell towers, fiber networks, small cells, and edge infrastructure. The Company's investment
management platform is anchored by its flagship value-add digital infrastructure equity offerings, and has expanded to include offerings in
core equity, credit, liquid securities, and mid-market global infrastructure equity through InfraBridge (Note 3).

Organization

The Company operates as a taxable C Corporation and conducts all of its activities and holds substantially all of its assets and liabilities
through its operating subsidiary, DigitalBridge Operating Company, LLC (the "Operating Company" or the "OP"). At March 31, 2024, the
Company owned 93% of the OP, as its sole managing member. The remaining 7% is owned primarily by certain current and former
employees of the Company as noncontrolling interests.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies of the Company are described below.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and
Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for complete financial statements. These statements reflect all normal and recurring
adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash flows
of the Company for the interim periods presented. However, the results of operations for the interim period presented are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2024, or any other future period. These interim financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in, or presented as
exhibits to, the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The portions of equity, net income (loss) and other comprehensive income
(loss) of consolidated subsidiaries that are not attributable to the parent are presented separately as amounts attributable to noncontrolling
interests in the consolidated financial statements. Noncontrolling interests represent predominantly carried interest allocation to certain senior
executives of the Company (Note 15), limited partners of consolidated funds, and membership interests in the OP primarily held by certain
current and former employees of the Company.

To the extent the Company consolidates a subsidiary that is subject to industry-specific guidance, such as investment company
accounting applied by the Company's consolidated sponsored funds, the Company retains the industry-specific guidance applied by that
subsidiary in its consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

Principles of Consolidation

The Company consolidates entities in which it has a controlling financial interest by first considering if an entity meets the definition of a
variable interest entity ("VIE") for which the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary, or if the Company has the power to control an
entity through a majority of voting interest or through other arrangements.

Variable Interest Entities—A VIE is an entity that either (i) lacks sufficient equity to finance its activities without additional subordinated
financial support from other parties; (ii) whose equity holders lack the characteristics of a controlling financial interest; and/or (iii) is
established with non-substantive voting rights. A VIE is consolidated by its
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primary beneficiary, which is defined as the party who has a controlling financial interest in the VIE through (a) power to direct the activities of
the VIE that most significantly affect the VIE’s economic performance, and (b) obligation to absorb losses or right to receive benefits of the
VIE that could be significant to the VIE. This assessment may involve subjectivity in the determination of which activities most significantly
affect the VIE’s performance, and estimates about current and future fair value of the assets held by the VIE and financial performance of the
VIE. In assessing its interests in the VIE, the Company also considers interests held by its related parties, including de facto agents.
Additionally, the Company assesses whether it is a member of a related party group that collectively meets the power and benefits criteria
and, if so, whether the Company is most closely associated with the VIE. In performing the related party analysis, the Company considers
both qualitative and quantitative factors, including, but not limited to: the characteristics and size of its investment relative to the related party;
the Company’s and the related party's ability to control or significantly influence key decisions of the VIE including consideration of
involvement by de facto agents; the obligation or likelihood for the Company or the related party to fund operating losses of the VIE; and the
similarity and significance of the VIE’s business activities to those of the Company and the related party. The determination of whether an
entity is a VIE, and whether the Company is the primary beneficiary, may involve significant judgment, and depends upon facts and
circumstances specific to an entity at the time of the assessment.

Voting Interest Entities—Unlike VIEs, voting interest entities have sufficient equity to finance their activities and equity investors exhibit
the characteristics of a controlling financial interest through their voting rights. The Company consolidates such entities when it has the power
to control these entities through ownership of a majority of the entities' voting interests or through other arrangements.

At each reporting period, the Company reassesses whether changes in facts and circumstances cause a change in the status of an
entity as a VIE or voting interest entity, and/or a change in the Company's consolidation assessment. Changes in consolidation status are
applied prospectively. An entity may be consolidated as a result of this reassessment, in which case, the assets, liabilities and noncontrolling
interests in the entity are recorded at fair value upon initial consolidation. Any existing equity interest held by the Company in the entity prior
to the Company obtaining control will be remeasured at fair value, which may result in a gain or loss recognized upon initial consolidation.
However, if the consolidation represents an asset acquisition of a voting interest entity, the Company's existing interest in the acquired
assets, if any, is not remeasured to fair value but continues to be carried at historical cost. The Company may also deconsolidate a
subsidiary as a result of this reassessment, which may result in a gain or loss recognized upon deconsolidation depending on the carrying
values of deconsolidated assets and liabilities compared to the fair value of any interests retained.

Noncontrolling Interests

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests—This represents noncontrolling interests in sponsored open-end funds in the liquid securities
strategy that are consolidated by the Company. The limited partners of these funds have the ability to withdraw all or a portion of their
interests from the funds in cash with advance notice.

Redeemable noncontrolling interests is presented outside of permanent equity. Allocation of net income or loss to redeemable
noncontrolling interests is based upon their ownership percentage during the period. The carrying amount of redeemable noncontrolling
interests is adjusted to its redemption value at the end of each reporting period to an amount not less than its initial carrying value, except for
amounts contingently redeemable which will be adjusted to redemption value only when redemption is probable. Such adjustments will be
recognized in additional paid-in capital.

Noncontrolling Interests in Investment Entities—This represents limited partners of consolidated closed-end funds, and carried interest
allocation to certain senior executives of the Company (Note 15) and to a lesser extent, to a third party investor, Wafra. Excluding carried
interests, allocation of net income or loss is generally based upon relative ownership interests.

Noncontrolling Interests in Operating Company—This represents membership interests in OP held primarily by certain current and
former employees of the Company. Noncontrolling interests in OP are allocated a share of net income or loss in OP based upon their
weighted average ownership interest in OP during the period. Noncontrolling interests in OP have the right to require OP to redeem part or all
of such member’s membership units in OP ("OP Units") for cash based on the market value of an equivalent number of shares of class A
common stock at the time of redemption, or at the Company's election as managing member of OP, through issuance of shares of class A
common stock (registered or unregistered) on a one-for-one basis. At the end of each reporting period, noncontrolling interests in OP is
adjusted to reflect their ownership percentage in OP at the end of the period, through a reallocation between controlling and noncontrolling
interests in OP, as applicable.
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Business Combinations

Definition of a Business—The Company evaluates each purchase transaction to determine whether the acquired assets meet the
definition of a business. If substantially all of the fair value of gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of
similar identifiable assets, then the set of transferred assets and activities is not a business. If not, for an acquisition to be considered a
business, it would have to include an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs (i.e.,
there is a continuation of revenue before and after the transaction). A substantive process is not ancillary or minor, cannot be replaced
without significant costs, effort or delay or is otherwise considered unique or scarce. To qualify as a business without outputs, the acquired
assets would require an organized workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge and experience to perform a substantive process.

Business Combinations—The Company accounts for acquisitions that qualify as business combinations by applying the acquisition
method. Transaction costs related to acquisition of a business are expensed as incurred and excluded from the fair value of consideration
transferred. The identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed and noncontrolling interests in an acquired entity are recognized and
measured at their estimated fair values, except as discussed below. The excess of the consideration transferred over the value of identifiable
assets acquired, liabilities assumed and noncontrolling interests in an acquired entity, net of fair value of any previously held interest in the
acquired entity, is recorded as goodwill. Such valuations require management to make significant estimates and assumptions.

With respect to contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination, these are not accounted for under the fair
value basis at the time of acquisition. Instead, the Company determines the value of these revenue contracts as if it had originated the
acquired contracts by evaluating the associated performance obligations, transaction price and relative stand-alone selling price at the
original contract inception date or subsequent modification dates.

The estimated fair values and allocation of consideration are subject to adjustments during the measurement period, not to exceed one
year, based upon new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at time of acquisition.

Contingent Consideration—Contingent consideration is classified as a liability or equity, as applicable. Contingent consideration in
connection with the acquisition of a business or a VIE is measured at fair value on acquisition date, and unless classified as equity, is
remeasured at fair value each reporting period thereafter until the consideration is settled, with changes in fair value included in earnings.

Discontinued Operations

If the disposition of a component, being an operating or reportable segment, business unit, subsidiary or asset group, represents a
strategic shift that has or will have a major effect on the Company’s operations and financial results, the operating profits or losses of the
component when classified as held for sale, and the gain or loss upon disposition of the component, are presented as discontinued
operations in the statements of operations.

A business or asset group acquired in connection with a business combination that meets the criteria to be accounted for as held for
sale at the date of acquisition is reported as discontinued operations, regardless of whether it meets the strategic shift criterion.

The Company's discontinued operations in the periods presented herein represent the following:
• In 2024 and 2023, the Company's former real estate investments along with an adjacent investment management business, which

have predominantly been disposed as part of the Company's transformation into an investment manager with a digital infrastructure
focus.

• In 2023, the operations of digital infrastructure portfolio companies that represented the Company's former Operating segment prior to
their full deconsolidation and qualification as discontinued operations on December 31, 2023. The Operating segment was previously
composed of balance sheet equity interests in two digital infrastructure portfolio companies, Vantage SDC and DataBank, a stabilized
hyperscale and an edge colocation data center business, respectively. These portfolio companies directly held and operated data
centers, earning rental income from providing use of data center space and/or capacity through leases, services and other tenant
arrangements. Prior to deconsolidation and reclassification as discontinued operations, a majority of the assets, liabilities and
operating results of DataBank and Vantage SDC were attributed to third party investors, presented as noncontrolling interests in
investment entities.

• In 2023, the Company's equity method investment in BrightSpire Capital, Inc. (NYSE: BRSP), which was sold in March 2023 for net
proceeds totaling $201.6 million, with impairment of $9.7 million recorded in 2023 prior to its disposition. The Company's investment in
BRSP qualified as discontinued operations in March 2023.

14



Table of Contents

Loss from discontinued operations is summarized as follows.
Three Months Ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2024 2023
Revenues $ 1,832 $ 233,634 
Expenses (3,068) (335,649)
Other gain (loss) (12,961) (8,647)

Income (Loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes (14,197) (110,662)
Income tax benefit (expense) 77 54 

Income (Loss) from discontinued operations (14,120) (110,608)
Income (Loss) from discontinued operations attributable to noncontrolling interests:

Investment entities — (85,737)
Operating Company (990) (1,813)

Income (Loss) from discontinued operations attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. $ (13,130) $ (23,058)

Assets and Liabilities of Discontinued Operations

The Company initially measures assets classified as held for disposition at the lower of their carrying amounts or fair value less disposal
costs. For bulk sale transactions, the unit of account is the disposal group, with any excess of the aggregate carrying value over estimated
fair value less costs to sell allocated to the individual assets within the group.

At March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, all assets and related liabilities held for disposition relate to discontinued operations and
consisted of remaining equity investments excluded from the December 2021 bulk sale of the Company's real estate related investments.

Reclassifications

As discussed in "—Discontinued Operations," the Company's investment in the portfolio companies previously consolidated in the
Company's former Operating segment qualified as discontinued operations in December 2023, and their results of operations have been
reclassified to income (loss) from discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31, 2023.

Beginning 2024, investment-related expenses, which primarily include reimbursable costs from affiliates, have been recorded within
administrative and other expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. Prior period amounts were immaterial and have been
reclassified to conform to current period presentation.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

There were no recently adopted accounting pronouncements that had a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial
statements.

Future Accounting Standards

Reportable Segment Disclosures

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which expands the breadth and
frequency of segment disclosures to require all annual disclosures on an interim basis and provide for incremental disclosures, including the
following:

• Category and amount of significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to (even if not regularly reviewed by) the chief
operating decision maker ("CODM") and included in each reported segment profit (loss) measure, otherwise the nature of expense
information (for example, consolidated, forecasted, budgeted) used by the CODM;

• An amount (without individual quantification) for other segment items (represents difference between segment revenue less segment
expense disclosed and reported segment profit (loss) measure), including description of the composition, nature and type of the other
segment items;

• Description of how CODM uses each reported segment profit (loss) measure to assess segment performance and determine resource
allocation; and

• Title and position of individual or name of group or committee identified as CODM.

The ASU changes current guidance by permitting multiple measures of segment profit (loss) to be reported provided that the measure
most consistent with GAAP is reported. The ASU also clarifies that a single reportable segment entity is subject to segment disclosures in its
entirety, which would require reporting of segment profit (loss) measure that is not a consolidated GAAP measure and not clearly evident
from existing disclosures. The ASU does not change existing guidance around identification of operating segments and determination of
reportable segments. The requirements under this ASU are to be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented unless impracticable.

The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning January 1, 2024 (that is, Form 10-K as of and for the year ending December 31, 2024),
and interim periods within fiscal years beginning January 1, 2025 (that is, Form 10-Q as of and for the three months ending March 31, 2025).
Early adoption is permitted. The Company will adopt this ASU for its 2024 fiscal year with the filing of its Form 10-K as of and for the year
ending December 31, 2024, and is currently evaluating the effects of this new guidance with respect to segment disclosures.

Income Tax Disclosures

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which enhances existing annual income
tax disclosures, primarily disaggregation of: (i) effective tax rate reconciliation using both percentages and amounts into specific categories,
with further disaggregation by nature and/or jurisdiction of certain categories that meet the threshold of 5% of expected tax; and (ii) income
taxes paid (net of refunds received) between federal, state/local and foreign, with further disaggregation by jurisdiction if 5% or more of total
income taxes paid (net of refunds received). The ASU also eliminates existing disclosures related to: (a) reasonably possible significant
changes in total amount of unrecognized tax benefits within 12 months of reporting date; and (b) cumulative amount of each type of
temporary difference for which deferred tax liability has not been recognized (due to exception to recognizing deferred taxes related to
subsidiaries and corporate joint ventures).

This ASU is effective January 1, 2025, with early adoption permitted in the interim or annual periods. Transition is prospective with the
option to apply retrospective application. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of this new guidance with respect to annual income
tax disclosures.

3. Business Combinations

InfraBridge

In February 2023, the Company acquired the global infrastructure equity investment management business of AMP Capital Investors
International Holdings Limited, which was rebranded as InfraBridge at closing. Consideration for the acquisition consisted of $314.3 million
cash consideration (net of cash assumed), subject to customary post-closing working capital adjustments, plus a contingent amount based
upon achievement of future fundraising targets for InfraBridge's new global infrastructure funds. The estimated fair value of the contingent
consideration is subject to remeasurement each reporting period, as discussed in Note 10.
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The following table summarizes the total consideration and allocation to assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The initial cash
consideration was determined, in part, based upon estimated net working capital of the acquired entities at closing. The Company finalized
the purchase price allocation in the first quarter of 2024, as presented below. 

(In thousands)
As Reported

At December 31, 2023
Measurement Period

Adjustments
As Reported

At March 31, 2024

Consideration
Cash $ 365,440 $ 365,440 
Estimated fair value of contingent consideration 10,874 10,874 

$ 376,314 $ 376,314 
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Cash 51,174 51,174 
Principal investments 112,310 112,310 
Intangible assets 50,800 50,800 
Other assets 34,699 16 34,715 
Deferred tax liabilities (10,198) (10,198)
Other liabilities (30,214) 373 (29,841)

Fair value of net assets acquired 208,571 208,960 
Goodwill 167,743 (389) 167,354 

$ 376,314 $ 376,314 

• Principal investments represent acquired interests in InfraBridge funds, valued at their most recent NAV at closing.

• The intangible assets of InfraBridge were composed of the following:
• Management contracts were valued based upon estimated net cash flows expected to be generated from the contracts, with

remaining term of the contracts ranging between 1 and 4 years, discounted at 8.0%.
• Investor relationships represent the fair value of potential future investment management fees, net of operating costs, to be

generated from repeat InfraBridge investors in future sponsored vehicles, with a weighted average estimated useful life of 12
years, discounted at 14.0%.

• Deferred tax liabilities were recognized for the book-to-tax basis difference of identifiable intangible assets acquired, net of deferred
tax assets assumed.

• Other assets acquired and liabilities assumed include management fee receivable and compensation payable associated with the pre-
acquisition period, amounts due to InfraBridge funds and receivable from seller.

• Goodwill is the value of the business acquired that is not already captured in identifiable assets, largely represented by the potential
synergies from combining the capital raising resources of DBRG and the mid-market infrastructure specialization of the InfraBridge
team.
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4. Investments

The Company's equity and debt investments are represented by the following:

(In thousands) March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Equity method investments

Principal investments $ 1,213,517 $ 1,194,417 
Carried interest allocation 667,943 676,421 

Marketable equity securities 32,188 17,487 
Other equity investments 35,559 53,930 
CLO subordinated notes 49,791 50,927 

1,998,998 1,993,182 
Equity investments of consolidated funds

Marketable equity securities 73,214 66,297 
Other investments 416,614 416,614 

$ 2,488,826 $ 2,476,093 

Equity Method Investments

Principal Investments

Principal investments represent investments in the Company's sponsored investment vehicles, accounted for as equity method
investments as the Company exerts significant influence in its role as general partner. The Company typically has a small percentage interest
in its sponsored funds as general partner or special limited partner. The Company also has additional investment as general partner affiliate
alongside the funds' limited partners, primarily with respect to the Company's flagship value-add funds, InfraBridge funds and funds invested
in DataBank.

The Company's proportionate share of net income (loss) from investments in its sponsored investment vehicles, primarily unrealized
gain (loss) from changes in fair value of the underlying fund investments, and any distributions received therefrom, are recorded in principal
investment income on the consolidated statements of operations.

Carried Interest Allocation

Carried interest allocation represents a disproportionate allocation of returns to the Company, as general partner or special limited
partner (which may be paid to the special limited partner entity owned by the Company in place of the general partner entity), based upon the
extent to which cumulative performance of a sponsored fund exceeds minimum return hurdles. Carried interest allocation generally arises
when appreciation in value of the underlying investments of the fund exceeds the minimum return hurdles, after factoring in a return of
invested capital and a return of certain costs of the fund pursuant to terms of the governing documents of the fund. The amount of carried
interest allocation recognized is based upon the cumulative performance of the fund if it were liquidated as of the reporting date. Unrealized
carried interest allocation is driven primarily by changes in fair value of the underlying investments of the fund, which may be affected by
various factors, including but not limited to: the financial performance of the portfolio company, economic conditions, foreign exchange rates,
comparable transactions in the market, and equity prices for publicly traded securities. For funds that have exceeded the minimum return
hurdle but have not returned all capital to the limited partners, unrealized carried interest allocation may be subject to reversal over time as
preferred returns continue to accrue on unreturned capital. Realization of carried interest allocation occurs upon disposition of all underlying
investments of the fund, or in part with each disposition.

Generally, carried interest allocation is distributed upon profitable disposition of an investment if at the time of distribution, cumulative
returns of the fund exceed minimum return hurdles. Depending on the final realized value of all investments at the end of the life of a fund
(and, with respect to certain funds, periodically during the life of the fund), if it is determined that cumulative carried interest allocation
distributed has exceeded the final carried interest allocation amount earned (or amount earned as of the calculation date), the Company is
obligated to return the excess carried interest allocation received. Therefore, carried interest allocation distributed may be subject to
clawback if decline in investment values results in cumulative performance of the fund falling below minimum return hurdles in the interim
period. If it is determined that the Company has a clawback obligation, a liability would be established based upon a hypothetical liquidation
of the net assets of the fund at reporting date. The actual determination and required payment of any clawback obligation would generally
occur after final disposition of the investments of the fund or otherwise as set forth in the governing documents of the fund.
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Carried interest allocation on the balance sheet date represents unrealized carried interest allocation in connection with sponsored
funds that are currently in the early stage of their lifecycle. Carried interest allocation is presented gross of management allocation.

Carried Interest Distributed

There was no carried interest allocation distributed in the first quarter of 2024, with an immaterial amount distributed and recognized in
revenues in the first quarter of 2023.

Clawback Obligation

The Company did not have a liability for clawback obligations on carried interest allocation distributed as of March 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023.

With respect to funds that have distributed carried interest, if in the event all of their investments are deemed to have no value, the
likelihood of which is remote, all of the carried interest distributed to-date of $180.9 million would be subject to clawback as of March 31,
2024, of which $120.6 million would be the responsibility of the employee/former employee recipients and Wafra. For this purpose, a portion
of carried interest distributed is generally held back from employees and former employees at the time of distribution. The amount withheld
resides in entities outside of the Company. Generally, the Company, through the OP, has guaranteed the clawback obligation of its
subsidiaries that act as general partner or special limited partner of its respective sponsored funds, for the benefit of these funds and their
limited partners.

Marketable Equity Securities

Marketable equity securities at March 31, 2024 includes a previously non-traded healthcare REIT at December 31, 2023 that became
publicly traded through an initial public offering in February 2024. The Company is restricted from liquidating its holdings in the new publicly
traded securities, which had a fair value of $18.1 million at March 31, 2024, until expiration of the underwriters' lock-up in August 2024.

Dividends or other distributions from marketable equity securities are recorded in other income, while changes in fair value are recorded
in other gain (loss) on the consolidated statements of operations.

Other Equity Investments

Other equity investments include investments warehoused potentially for future sponsored funds and an investment in a managed
account.

Warehoused investments are generally carried at fair value or under the measurement alternative, which is at cost, adjusted for
impairment and observable price changes. Changes in the value of these investments are recorded in other gain (loss) on the consolidated
statements of operations.

Debt Investments

Interest income on debt investments is recorded in other income.

CLO Subordinated Notes

In the third quarter of 2022, bank syndicated loans that the Company previously warehoused were transferred into a third party
warehouse entity at their acquisition price, and securitized through the issuance of CLO securities. The CLO is sponsored and managed by
the third party. The Company acquired all of the subordinated notes of the CLO, which are classified as available-for-sale ("AFS") debt
securities. The CLO has a stated legal final maturity of 2035.

Following the end of the non-call period in October 2024, the subordinated notes may be redeemed (in whole, not in part) at the option
of the collateral manager or the Company with consent of the collateral manager, if there is sufficient proceeds from sale of collateral assets,
including payment of expenses therewith. The redemption price for the subordinated notes is equal to the excess interest and principal
proceeds payable at the time of redemption.

The balance of the CLO subordinated notes is summarized as follows:

Amortized Cost
without Allowance for

Credit Loss
Allowance for Credit

Loss

Gross Cumulative Unrealized

(in thousands) Gains Losses Fair Value

March 31, 2024 $ 49,791 $ — $ — $ — $ 49,791 
December 31, 2023 50,927 — — — 50,927 

19



Table of Contents

In estimating fair value of the CLO subordinated notes, the Company used a benchmarking approach by looking to the implied credit
spreads derived from observed prices on recent comparable CLO issuances, and also considering the current size and diversification of the
CLO collateral pool, and projected return on the subordinated notes. Based upon these data points, the Company determined that the issued
price of the subordinated notes was a reasonable representation of its fair value at March 31, 2024, net of capital distributions, and
December 31, 2023, classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Equity Investments of Consolidated Funds

The Company consolidates sponsored funds in which it has more than an insignificant equity interest in the fund as general partner, as
discussed in Note 14. Equity investments of consolidated funds are composed primarily of marketable equity securities held by funds in the
liquid securities strategy and equity investments in digital infrastructure portfolio companies held by single asset funds. Equity investments of
consolidated funds are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in other gain (loss) on the consolidated statements of
operations.

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The following table presents changes in goodwill.

Three Months Ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023

Beginning balance $ 465,991 $ 298,248 
Business combination (Note 3) (389) 146,569 

Ending balance $ 465,602 $ 444,817 

__________

Remaining goodwill deductible for income tax purposes was $109.2 million at March 31, 2024 and $111.8 million at December 31, 2023.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are composed of the following: 
March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

(In thousands) Carrying Amount Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount Carrying Amount Accumulated

Amortization
Net Carrying

Amount

Investment management contracts $ 138,797 $ (79,720) $ 59,077 $ 150,835 $ (84,824) $ 66,011 
Investor relationships 53,419 (20,578) 32,841 53,572 (19,190) 34,382 
Trade name 4,300 (2,014) 2,286 4,300 (1,907) 2,393 
Other 1,518 (591) 927 1,518 (554) 964 

$ 198,034 $ (102,903) $ 95,131 $ 210,225 $ (106,475) $ 103,750 

__________
    Presented net of impairments and write-offs, if any.

Exclude intangible assets that were fully amortized in prior years.
Represents primarily the value of an acquired domain name.

Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets totaled $8.3 million and $6.2 million in the three months ended March 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively. There was no impairment of identifiable intangible assets in the periods presented.

Future Amortization of Intangible Assets

The following table presents the expected future amortization of finite-lived intangible assets:
Year Ending December 31,

(In thousands) Remaining 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
2029 and
thereafter Total

Amortization expense $ 22,549 $ 25,165 $ 17,572 $ 11,975 $ 7,881 $ 9,989 $ 95,131 

(1)

(1)    

(1)
(2) (1)(2) (1)

(1)
(2) (1)(2) (1)

(3)

(1)

(2)    

(3)    
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6. Restricted Cash, Other Assets and Other Liabilities

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents principally cash reserves that are maintained pursuant to the governing agreements of the securitized debt
of the Company.

Other Assets

The following table summarizes the Company's other assets.
(In thousands) March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Prepaid taxes and deferred tax assets, net $ 12,718 $ 14,059 
Operating lease right-of-use asset for corporate offices 31,311 33,898 
Accounts receivable, net 7,135 8,919 
Prepaid expenses 1,156 2,952 
Other assets 10,895 11,893 
Fixed assets, net 10,656 7,232 

Total other assets $ 73,871 $ 78,953 

__________
Net of accumulated depreciation of $8.2 million at March 31, 2024 and $7.3 million at December 31, 2023.

Other Liabilities

The following table summarizes the Company's other liabilities:
(In thousands) March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Deferred investment management fees $ 11,331 $ 10,250 
Interest payable on corporate debt 1,130 2,293 
Common and preferred stock dividends payable 16,563 16,477 
Securities sold short—consolidated funds 44,249 38,481 
Due to custodians—consolidated funds 8,966 9,415 
Current and deferred income tax liability 9,133 8,403 
Contingent consideration payable—InfraBridge (Note 10) 11,338 11,338 
Contingent consideration payable—Wafra — 35,000 
Warrants issued to Wafra (Note 9) 11,600 39,200 
Operating lease liability for corporate offices 46,072 49,035 
Accrued compensation 22,005 63,761 
Accrued incentive fee and carried interest compensation 347,834 356,316 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 28,961 13,844 
Due to affiliates (Note 15) 10,809 10,664 
Other liabilities 3,970 16,974 

Other liabilities $ 573,961 $ 681,451 

__________
Deferred investment management fees are expected to be recognized as fee revenue over a weighted average period of 3.0 years as of March 31, 2024 and December 31,
2023. Deferred investment management fees recognized as income of $1.2 million and $1.4 million in the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively,
pertain to the deferred management fee balance at the beginning of each respective period.
In connection with the 2022 redemption of Wafra's investment in the Company's investment management business, contingent consideration was payable to Wafra based
upon the Company achieving certain fundraising targets through December 31, 2023. The contingent amount was fully paid out, with $90 million paid in cash in March 2023,
and remaining $35 million in March 2024, settled 50% each in shares of the Company's Class A common stock and in cash.

Deferred Income Taxes

The Company has significant deferred tax assets, related principally to capital loss carryforwards, outside basis difference in DBRG's
interest in the OP, outside basis difference in investment in partnerships and net operating losses generated by a taxable U.S. subsidiary. As
of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, a full valuation allowance has been established as the realizability of these deferred tax assets
did not meet the more-likely-than-not threshold. As a result, income tax expense in 2024 and 2023 generally reflects the income tax effect of
foreign subsidiaries.

(1)

(1)    

(1)

(2)

(1)    

(2)    
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7. Debt

The Company's corporate debt is composed of a securitized financing facility and, prior to their full exchange or redemption in March
and April 2024, senior notes issued by the OP that are recourse to the Company, as discussed further below.

March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

(In thousands) Principal
Premium

(Discount), net
Deferred

Financing Cost Amortized Cost Principal
Premium

(Discount), net
Deferred

Financing Cost Amortized Cost
Securitized financing facility $ 300,000 $ — $ (5,209) $ 294,791 $ 300,000 $ — $ (5,733) $ 294,267 
Exchangeable senior notes 72,422 (632) (75) 71,715 78,422 (810) (96) 77,516 

$ 372,422 $ (632) $ (5,284) $ 366,506 $ 378,422 $ (810) $ (5,829) $ 371,783 

Securitized Financing Facility

In July 2021, special-purpose subsidiaries of the OP (the "Co-Issuers") issued Series 2021-1 Secured Fund Fee Revenue Notes,
composed of: (i) $300 million aggregate principal amount of 3.933% Secured Fund Fee Revenue Notes, Series 2021-1, Class A-2 (the
“Class A-2 Notes”); and (ii) up to $300 million (following a $100 million increase in April 2022) Secured Fund Fee Revenue Variable Funding
Notes, Series 2021-1, Class A-1 (the “VFN” and, together with the Class A-2 Notes, the “Series 2021-1 Notes”). The VFN allow the Co-
Issuers to borrow on a revolving basis. The Series 2021-1 Notes were issued under an Indenture dated July 2021, as amended in April 2022,
that allows the Co-Issuers to issue additional series of notes in the future, subject to certain conditions. The Series 2021-1 Notes replaced
the Company's previous corporate credit facility.

The Series 2021-1 Notes represent obligations of the Co-Issuers and certain other special-purpose subsidiaries of DBRG, and neither
DBRG, the OP nor any of its other subsidiaries are liable for the obligations of the Co-Issuers. The Series 2021-1 Notes are secured by net
investment management fees earned by subsidiaries of DBRG, equity interests in certain sponsored funds and portfolio companies held by
subsidiaries of DBRG, as collateral.

The following table summarizes certain key terms of the securitized financing facility:

($ in thousands) Outstanding Principal
 Interest Rate
(Per Annum)

Anticipated Repayment
Date

 Years Remaining to
Maturity

Class A-2 Notes $ 300,000 3.93 % September 2026 2.5

Variable Funding Notes — 
1-month Term SOFR +

3% September 2024 0.5

__________

The VFN bears interest based upon 1-month Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate, or SOFR, adjusted to include 0.11448% as defined in the VFN purchase agreement,
or an alternate benchmark as set forth in the VFN purchase agreement plus 3%. Unused capacity under the VFN facility is subject to a commitment fee of 0.5% per annum.
The final maturity date of the Class A-2 Notes is in September 2051. The anticipated repayment date of the VFN is subject to two one-year extensions.

The Series 2021-1 Notes may be optionally prepaid, in whole or in part, prior to their anticipated repayment dates. There is no
prepayment penalty on the VFN. However, prepayment of the Class A-2 Notes will be subject to additional consideration based upon the
difference between the present value of future payments of principal and interest and the outstanding principal of such Class A-2 Note that is
being prepaid; or 1% of the outstanding principal of such Class A-2 Note that is being prepaid in connection with a disposition of collateral.

The Indenture of the Series 2021-1 Notes contains various covenants, including financial covenants that require the maintenance of
minimum thresholds for debt service coverage ratio and maximum loan-to-value ratio, as defined. As of the date of this filing, the Co-Issuers
are in compliance with all of the financial covenants.

(1) (2) (2)

(1)    

(2)    
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Exchangeable Senior Notes

Exchangeable senior notes represent senior unsecured obligations of the OP as issuer of the senior notes.

Description
Issuance

Date Due Date
Interest Rate
(per annum)

Exchange
Price (per
share of
common

stock)
Exchange Ratio

(in shares)

Exchange
Shares (in

thousands)

Earliest
Redemption

Date

Outstanding Principal
March 31,

2024
December 31,

2023

5.75% Exchangeable Senior
Notes July 2020 July 15,

2025 5.75 % $ 9.20 108.6956 7,872 July 21, 2023 $ 72,422 $ 78,422 

__________
The exchange ratio for the senior notes is subject to periodic adjustments to reflect certain carried-forward adjustments relating to common stock splits, reverse stock splits,
common stock adjustments in connection with spin-offs and cumulative cash dividends paid on the Company's common stock since the issuances of the senior notes. The
ratios are presented in shares of common stock per $1,000 principal of the senior note.

The senior notes mature on their due date, unless earlier redeemed, repurchased, or exchanged. The outstanding senior notes are
exchangeable at any time by holders of such notes into shares of the Company’s common stock at the applicable exchange rate, which is
subject to adjustment upon occurrence of certain events.

To the extent certain trading conditions of the Company’s common stock are met, the senior notes are redeemable by the issuer in
whole or in part for cash at any time on or after their earliest redemption dates at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
such senior notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest (if any) up to, but excluding, the redemption date.

In the event of certain change in control transactions, holders of the senior notes have the right to require the issuer to purchase all or
part of such holder's senior notes for cash in accordance with terms of the governing documents of the senior notes.

Exchange or Redemption of Senior Notes

As of the end of April 2024, there are no outstanding senior notes following the Company's full exchange or redemption of its remaining
5.75% exchangeable senior notes. Of the $78.4 million of outstanding note principal outstanding as of the beginning of the quarter,
$73.4 million was exchanged for 8.2 million shares of the Company's class A common stock ($6.0 million note principal exchanged for
673,486 shares in March 2024, with the remainder exchanged in April 2024) and $5.0 million redeemed for cash in April 2024. In connection
with the exchange, the shares of Class A common stock were issued in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933,
as amended.

8. Stockholders' Equity

The table below summarizes the share activities of the Company's preferred stock and common stock.
Number of Shares

(In thousands) Preferred Stock
Class A

Common Stock
Class B

Common Stock

Shares outstanding at December 31, 2022 33,111 159,763 166 
Stock repurchases (3) — — 
Equity awards issued, net of forfeitures — 2,486 — 
Shares canceled for tax withholding on vested equity awards — (415) — 

Shares outstanding at March 31, 2023 33,108 161,834 166 

Shares outstanding at December 31, 2023 32,876 163,209 166 
Exchange of notes for class A common stock — 673 — 
Shares issued upon redemption of OP Units — 85 — 
Settlement of contingent consideration (Note 6) — 1,020 — 
Equity awards issued, net of forfeitures — 1,465 — 
Shares canceled for tax withholding on vested equity awards — (400) — 

Shares outstanding at March 31, 2024 32,876 166,052 166 

(1)

(1)    
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Preferred Stock

In the event of a liquidation or dissolution of the Company, preferred stockholders have priority over common stockholders for payment
of dividends and distribution of net assets.

The table below summarizes the preferred stock issued and outstanding at March 31, 2024:

Description
Dividend Rate Per

Annum Initial Issuance Date
Shares Outstanding

(in thousands)
Par Value

(in thousands)

Liquidation
Preference

(in thousands) Earliest Redemption Date

Series H 7.125 % April 2015 8,395 $ 84 $ 209,870 Currently redeemable
Series I 7.15 % June 2017 12,867 129 321,668 Currently redeemable
Series J 7.125 % September 2017 11,614 116 290,361 Currently redeemable

32,876 $ 329 $ 821,899 

All series of preferred stock are at parity with respect to dividends and distributions, including distributions upon liquidation, dissolution
or winding up of the Company. Dividends are payable quarterly in arrears in January, April, July and October.

Each series of preferred stock is redeemable on or after the earliest redemption date for that series at $25.00 per share plus accrued
and unpaid dividends (whether or not declared) prorated to their redemption dates, exclusively at the Company’s option. The redemption
period for each series of preferred stock is subject to the Company’s right under limited circumstances to redeem the preferred stock upon
the occurrence of a change of control (as defined in the articles supplementary relating to each series of preferred stock).

Preferred stock generally does not have any voting rights, except if the Company fails to pay the preferred dividends for six or more
quarterly periods (whether or not consecutive). Under such circumstances, the preferred stock will be entitled to vote, together as a single
class with any other series of parity stock upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable, to elect two additional
directors to the Company’s board of directors, until all unpaid dividends have been paid or declared and set aside for payment. In addition,
certain changes to the terms of any series of preferred stock cannot be made without the affirmative vote of holders of at least two-thirds of
the outstanding shares of each such series of preferred stock voting separately as a class for each series of preferred stock.

Common Stock

Except with respect to voting rights, class A common stock and class B common stock have the same rights and privileges and rank
equally, share ratably in dividends and distributions, and are identical in all respects as to all matters. Class A common stock has one vote
per share and class B common stock has thirty-six and one-half votes per share. This gives the holders of class B common stock a right to
vote that reflects the aggregate outstanding non-voting economic interest in the Company (in the form of OP Units) attributable to class B
common stock holders and therefore, does not provide any disproportionate voting rights. Class B common stock was issued as
consideration in the Company's acquisition in April 2015 of the investment management business and operations of its former manager,
which was previously controlled by the Company's former Executive Chairman. Each share of class B common stock shall convert
automatically into one share of class A common stock if the former Executive Chairman or his beneficiaries directly or indirectly transfer
beneficial ownership of class B common stock or OP Units held by them, other than to certain qualified transferees, which generally includes
affiliates and employees. In addition, each holder of class B common stock has the right, at the holder’s option, to convert all or a portion of
such holder’s class B common stock into an equal number of shares of class A common stock.

Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase Plan

The Company's Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase Plan (the “DRIP Plan”) provides existing common stockholders and
other investors the opportunity to purchase shares (or additional shares, as applicable) of the Company's class A common stock by
reinvesting some or all of the cash dividends received on their shares of the Company's class A common stock or making optional cash
purchases within specified parameters. The DRIP Plan involves the acquisition of the Company's class A common stock either in the open
market, directly from the Company as newly issued common stock, or in privately negotiated transactions with third parties. No shares of
class A common stock have been acquired under the DRIP Plan in the form of new issuances in the last three years.

Stock Repurchases

The Company does not currently have an authorized stock repurchase program.
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Pursuant to a $200 million stock repurchase program announced in July 2022 that expired in June 2023, the Company repurchased
235,223 shares in aggregate across Series H, I and J preferred stock in 2023 for approximately $4.7 million (2,738 shares for $52,000 in the
first quarter of 2023 and the remainder in the second quarter of 2023), or a weighted average price of $20.18 per share.

The excess or deficit of the repurchase price over the carrying value of the preferred stock results in a decrease or increase to net
income attributable to common stockholders, respectively.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following tables present the changes in each component of AOCI attributable to stockholders and noncontrolling interests in
investment entities, net of immaterial tax effect. There were no changes in components of AOCI attributed to noncontrolling interests in
investment entities for the three months ended March 31, 2024. AOCI attributable to noncontrolling interests in Operating Company is
immaterial.

Changes in Components of AOCI—Stockholders

(In thousands)

Company's Share in
AOCI of Equity Method

Investments
Foreign Currency

Translation Gain (Loss) Total

AOCI at December 31, 2022 $ (295) $ (1,214) $ (1,509)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (1) 787 786 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI 296 (1,051) (755)

AOCI at March 31, 2023 $ — $ (1,478) $ (1,478)

AOCI at December 31, 2023 $ — $ 1,411 $ 1,411 
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications — (1,018) (1,018)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 319 319 

AOCI at March 31, 2024 $ — $ 712 $ 712 

Changes in Components of AOCI—Noncontrolling Interests in Investment Entities 

(In thousands)
Foreign Currency

Translation Gain (Loss)

AOCI at December 31, 2022 $ (3,015)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 503 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI (468)

AOCI at March 31, 2023 $ (2,980)

Reclassifications out of AOCI—Stockholders

Information about amounts reclassified out of AOCI attributable to stockholders by component is presented below. Such amounts are
included in other gain (loss) in continuing and discontinued operations on the consolidated statements of operations, as applicable, except
for amounts related to equity method investments, which are included in equity method losses in discontinued operations.

(In thousands) Three Months Ended March 31,
Component of AOCI reclassified into earnings 2024 2023

Release of foreign currency cumulative translation adjustments $ (319) $ 1,051 
Release of AOCI of equity method investments — (296)
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9. Noncontrolling Interests

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

The following table presents the activities in redeemable noncontrolling interests in open-end funds in the liquid securities strategy
consolidated by the Company.

Three Months Ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023
Redeemable noncontrolling interests

Beginning balance $ 17,862 $ 100,574 
Contributions 1,001 — 
Distributions paid and payable, including redemptions — (104)
Net income (loss) 733 6,943 

Ending balance $ 19,596 $ 107,413 

Noncontrolling Interests in Operating Company

Certain current and former employees of the Company directly or indirectly own interests in OP, presented as noncontrolling interests in
the Operating Company. Noncontrolling interests in OP have the right to require OP to redeem part or all of such member’s OP Units for cash
based on the market value of an equivalent number of shares of class A common stock at the time of redemption, or at the Company's
election as managing member of OP, through issuance of shares of class A common stock (registered or unregistered) on a one-for-one
basis. At the end of each period, noncontrolling interests in OP is adjusted to reflect their ownership percentage in OP at the end of the
period, through a reallocation between controlling and noncontrolling interests in OP.

Redemption of OP Units—The Company redeemed OP Units totaling 85,000 in 2024 and 253,084 in 2023 through issuance of an equal
number of shares of class A common stock on a one-for-one basis.

10. Fair Value

Recurring Fair Values

Financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value on a recurring basis include financial instruments for which the fair value
option was elected, but exclude financial assets under the NAV practical expedient. Fair value is categorized into a three tier hierarchy that is
prioritized based upon the level of transparency in inputs used in the valuation techniques, as follows.

Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in non-active
markets, or valuation techniques utilizing inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable data directly or indirectly for
substantially the full term of the financial instrument.

Level 3—At least one assumption or input is unobservable and it is significant to the fair value measurement, requiring significant
management judgment or estimate.
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Fair Value Measurement Hierarchy
(In thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
March 31, 2024
Assets

Investments (Note 4)
Marketable equity securities $ 32,188 $ — $ — $ 32,188 
CLO subordinated notes — — 49,791 49,791 
Equity investments of consolidated funds 73,214 — 416,614 489,828 

Fair Value Option:
Equity method investment — — 2,725 2,725 

Liabilities
Other liabilities

InfraBridge contingent consideration — — 11,338 11,338 
Warrants issued to Wafra — — 11,600 11,600 
Securities of consolidated funds sold short 44,249 — — 44,249 

December 31, 2023
Assets

Investments (Note 4)
Marketable equity securities $ 17,487 $ — $ — $ 17,487 
CLO subordinated notes — — 50,927 50,927 
Equity investments of consolidated funds 66,297 — 416,614 482,911 

Fair Value Option:
Equity method investment — — 6,700 6,700 

Liabilities
Other liabilities

InfraBridge contingent consideration — — 11,338 11,338 
Warrants issued to Wafra — — 39,200 39,200 
Securities of consolidated funds sold short 38,481 — — 38,481 

Equity Investments of Consolidated Funds

Equity investments of consolidated funds include marketable equity securities held by our liquid strategy funds, valued based upon
listed prices in active markets, classified as Level 1, and equity investments in digital infrastructure portfolio companies held by single asset
funds. The marketable equity securities comprise publicly listed stocks primarily in the U.S. and to a lesser extent, in Europe, and primarily in
the technology, media and telecommunications sectors. With respect to other equity investments, fair value of an underlying portfolio
company was determined using a discounted cash flow model based upon projected net operating income of the investee with exit
capitalization rate of 5.5% and discounted at 10.4% at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, classified as level 3. Additionally, a recently
acquired fund investment was valued based upon its transacted price, classified as level 3.

Prior to December 31, 2023, equity investments of consolidated funds included equity interests in pooling entities that hold a portfolio of
loans, invested alongside other parallel funds within the same credit fund complex. In December 2023, following a reorganization of the
Company's ownership interest within the fund structure, the consolidated credit fund was deconsolidated. Fair value of the fund's equity
interests in the pooling entities was based upon its share of expected cash flows from the loan assets held by the pooling entities, classified
as level 3. In estimating fair value of the underlying loans, the pooling entities considered the prevailing market yields at which a third party
might expect to receive on equivalent loans with similar credit risk. Based upon a comparison to market yields, it was determined that the
transacted price or par value of the loans held by the pooling entities approximated their fair value.
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Fair Value Option

Equity Method Investments

The Company has one equity method investment under the fair value option. Fair value was determined using a discounted cash flow
model based upon projected earnings, discounted at 18.3% at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, and also taking into consideration a
comparison to market values of similar public companies at December 31, 2023. The fair value is classified as Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy and changes in fair value are recorded in principal investment income.

Loans Receivable

There was no outstanding loans receivable balance at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. In March 2023, an unsecured
promissory note that had been issued in connection with the sale of the Company's former Wellness Infrastructure business in 2022 was fully
written down in the amount of $133.3 million, taking into consideration foreclosure of certain assets within the sold Wellness Infrastructure
portfolio by its mezzanine lender.

Warrants

The Company had previously issued five warrants to affiliates of Wafra Inc. (collectively "Wafra"), a private investment firm, in
connection with Wafra's investment in the Company's investment management business in 2020. Wafra's investment was subsequently
redeemed in 2022, with the warrants remaining outstanding. Each warrant entitles Wafra to purchase up to 1,338,000 shares of the
Company's class A common stock at staggered strike prices between $9.72 and $24.00 each, exercisable through July 17, 2026.

The terms of the warrant purchase agreement provided for net cash settlement upon exercise of the warrants, at election of either the
Company or Wafra, if such exercise would result in Wafra beneficially owning in excess of 9.8% of the issued and outstanding shares of the
Company's class A common stock. Inclusion of the cash settlement feature resulted in the warrants being classified as liability. Accordingly,
the warrants were carried at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in other gain (loss) on the consolidated statements of operations.

In March 2024, three of the warrants were reclassified to equity at their prevailing fair value following a removal of the net cash
settlement feature, as the terms of the warrants were amended in connection with a sale of the three warrants by Wafra to a third party. The
equity-classified warrants are no longer subject to fair value remeasurement.

At March 31, 2024, the liability-classified warrants were carried at fair value, measured using a Black-Scholes option pricing model,
applying the following inputs: (a) estimated volatility for DBRG's class A common stock of 39.3% (37.8% at December 31, 2023); (b) closing
stock price of DBRG's class A common stock on the last trading day of the quarter; (c) the strike price for each warrant; (d) remaining term to
expiration of the warrants; and (e) risk free rate of 4.53% per annum (4.11% per annum at December 31, 2023), derived from the daily U.S.
Treasury yield curve rates to correspond to the remaining term to expiration of the warrants.

Contingent Consideration

In connection with the acquisition of InfraBridge, contingent consideration is payable if prescribed fundraising targets are met. In
measuring the contingent consideration at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company applied a probability-weighted approach to
the likelihood of meeting various fundraising targets and discounted the estimated future contingent consideration payment at 4.9% to derive
a present value amount, classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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Changes in Level 3 Fair Value

The following table presents changes in recurring Level 3 fair value assets held for investment. Realized and unrealized gains (losses)
are included in other gain (loss).

Level 3 Assets Level 3 Liabilities

Fair Value Option Equity Investment
of Consolidated

Funds Warrants

InfraBridge
Contingent

Consideration(In thousands) Loans Receivable
Equity Method
Investments

Fair value at December 31, 2022 $ 133,307 $ — $ 46,770 $ 17,700 $ — 
Contributions — — 9,627 — — 
Business combination — — — — 10,874 
Change in consolidated fund's share of equity investment — — 6,125 — — 
Paydown of underlying loans held by equity investment of
consolidated fund — — (25) — — 

Unrealized gain (loss) in earnings, net (133,307) — 11 4,500 65 
Fair value at March 31, 2023 $ — $ — $ 62,508 $ 22,200 $ 10,939 

Net unrealized gain (loss) in earnings on instruments held at
March 31, 2023 $ (133,307) $ — $ 11 $ 4,500 $ 65 

 
Fair value at December 31, 2023 $ — $ 6,700 $ 416,614 $ 39,200 $ 11,338 
Unrealized gain (loss) in earnings, net — (3,975) — 5,400 — 
Reclassification to equity — — — (33,000) — 

Fair value at March 31, 2024 $ — $ 2,725 $ 416,614 $ 11,600 $ 11,338 

Net unrealized gain (loss) in earnings on instruments held at
March 31, 2024 $ — $ (3,975) $ — $ 2,500 $ — 

__________

Represents reallocation of investment value when relative ownership of the pooling entity across its fund owners change following additional capital contributions prior to final
close of the fund.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments Reported at Cost

Fair value of financial instruments reported at amortized cost are presented below. 
 Fair Value Measurements

Carrying Value(In thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
March 31, 2024
Liabilities

Secured fund fee revenue notes $ — $ 250,547 $ — $ 250,547 $ 294,791 
Exchangeable senior notes — 147,204 — 147,204 71,715 

December 31, 2023
Liabilities

Secured fund fee revenue notes $ — $ 250,547 $ — $ 250,547 $ 294,267 
Exchangeable senior notes 152,296 — 152,296 77,516 

Debt—Senior notes and secured fund fee revenue notes were valued using their last traded price.

Other—The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due from and to affiliates, interest payable and
accounts payable generally approximate fair value due to their short term nature, and credit risk, if any, is negligible.

(1)

(1)    
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11. Earnings per Share

The following table presents the basic and diluted earnings per common share computations.
 Three Months Ended March 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2024 2023
Net income (loss) allocated to common stockholders
Income (Loss) from continuing operations attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. $ (16,498) $ (174,739)

  Income (Loss) from discontinued operations attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. (13,130) (23,058)
Net income (loss) attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. (29,628) (197,797)

Preferred dividends (14,660) (14,676)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders (44,288) (212,473)
Net income (loss) allocated to participating securities (34) (31)
Net income (loss) allocated to common stockholders—basic (44,322) (212,504)
Interest expense attributable to exchangeable notes — — 
Net income (loss) allocated to common stockholders—diluted $ (44,322) $ (212,504)

Weighted average common shares outstanding
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—basic 161,043 158,446 
Weighted average effect of dilutive shares — — 
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—diluted 161,043 158,446 

Income (loss) per share—basic
Income (Loss) from continuing operations $ (0.20) $ (1.19)
Income (Loss) from discontinued operations (0.08) (0.15)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per common share—basic $ (0.28) $ (1.34)
Income (loss) per share—diluted
Income (Loss) from continuing operations $ (0.20) $ (1.19)
Income (Loss) from discontinued operations (0.08) (0.15)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per common share—diluted $ (0.28) $ (1.34)

__________
With respect to the assumed conversion or exchange of the Company's outstanding senior notes, the following are excluded from the calculation of     diluted earnings per
share as their inclusion would be antidilutive: (a) for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the effect of adding back interest expense of $1.3 million and $4.0
million, respectively, and 8,495,500 and 11,697,600 of weighted average dilutive common share equivalents.
The calculation of diluted earnings per share excludes the effect of the following as their inclusion would be antidilutive: (a) class A common shares that are contingently
issuable in relation to performance stock units (Note 13) with weighted average shares of 121,700 and 32,400 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023; and (b)
class A common shares that are issuable to net settle the exercise of warrants (Note 9) with weighted average shares of 1,331,200 and 362,800 for the three months ended
March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
OP Units may be redeemed for registered or unregistered class A common stock on a one-for-one basis and are not dilutive. At March 31, 2024 and 2023, 12,290,800 and
12,628,900 of OP Units, respectively, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share in the respective periods presented.

12. Fee Revenue

The following table presents the Company's fee revenue by type.
Three Months Ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2024 2023

Management fees $ 71,844 $ 57,158 

Incentive fees 881 869 

Other fees 230 1,099 
Total fee revenue $ 72,955 $ 59,126 

Management Fees—Management fees are generally calculated based upon the following ranges of per annum contractual rates:
• Equity funds—0.64% to 2.00% of investors' committed capital during the commitment period, and thereafter, contributed or invested

capital (subject to certain reductions for NAV write-downs);
• Credit and co-investment vehicles—0.25% to 1.10% of contributed or invested capital from inception; and
• Liquid Strategies and InfraBridge co-investment vehicles—0.20% to 1.15% of NAV or gross asset value, respectively.

(1)

(1)(2)(3)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)    
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Also, co-investment vehicles may charge a one-time fee upfront at contractual rates between 0.15% and 1.50% of committed capital,
generally to be paid in tranches, but with recognition of fee revenue over the life of the vehicle. Certain co-investment vehicles may be non
fee-bearing.

Incentive Fees—The Company is entitled to incentive fees from sub-advisory accounts in its liquid securities strategy. Incentive fees are
determined based upon the performance of the respective accounts, subject to the achievement of specified return thresholds in accordance
with the terms set out in their respective governing agreements. A portion of incentive fees earned by the Company is allocable to certain
employees and former employees, included in carried interest and incentive fee compensation expense.

Other Fee Revenue—Other fees include primarily service fees for information technology, facilities and operational support provided to
certain portfolio companies, and on a non-recurring basis, loan origination fees from co-investors.

Revenue Concentration

For the three months ended March 31, 2024, revenues from four funds, including fee revenue, principal investment income and carried
interest allocation, accounted for approximately 26%, 13%, 13%, and 12% of the Company's total revenues.

13. Equity-Based Compensation

Equity-based awards granted prior to the end of March 2024, including the Company's annual equity awards, were granted under the
DigitalBridge Group, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (the "2014 Equity Incentive Plan), which expired at the end of March 2024. As
of December 31, 2023, 5.8 million shares of class A common stock remained available for issuance under the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan,
and immediately prior to its expiration, 8.9 million shares of class A common stock remained available for issuance under the 2014 Equity
Incentive Plan.

At the end of April 2024, the Company's shareholders approved the 2024 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (the "2024 Equity Incentive
Plan"). The 2024 Equity Incentive Plan, consistent with the previous plan, provides for the grant of restricted stock, performance stock units
("PSUs"), Long Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP") units, restricted stock units ("RSUs"), deferred stock units ("DSUs"), options, warrants or rights
to purchase shares of the Company's common stock, cash incentives and other equity-based awards to the Company's officers, directors
(including non-employee directors), employees, co-employees, consultants or advisors of the Company or of any parent or subsidiary who
provides services to the Company, but excluding employees of portfolio companies. Shares reserved for the issuance of awards under the
2024 Equity Incentive Plan are subject to equitable adjustment upon the occurrence of certain corporate events. The number of shares of
Class A common stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2024 Equity Incentive Plan as of its adoption in April 2024 is 5.5 million
shares.

Restricted Stock—Restricted stock awards in the Company's class A common stock are granted to senior executives, directors and
certain employees, subject to a service condition or a combination of both a service and performance condition, with annual time-based
vesting in equal tranches over a three-year period. Vesting of performance-based restricted stock awards occur upon achievement of certain
Company-specific metrics over a specified performance measurement period. Restricted stock is entitled to dividends declared and paid on
the Company's class A common stock and such dividends are not forfeitable prior to vesting of the award. Restricted stock awards are
valued based on the Company's class A common stock price on grant date and equity-based compensation expense is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

Restricted Stock Units—RSUs in the Company's class A common stock are subject to a performance condition. Vesting of performance-
based RSUs occur upon achievement of certain Company-specific metrics over a specified performance measurement period. Only vested
RSUs are entitled to accrued dividends declared and paid on the Company's class A common stock during the time period the RSUs are
outstanding. RSUs are initially valued based upon the Company's class A common stock price on grant date and not subsequently
remeasured for equity-classified awards, while liability-classified awards are remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period until
the award is fully vested. Equity-based compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period if and when it is probable that the
performance condition will be met, subject to reversal if no longer probable. A liability classified award that met its performance condition and
became fully vested over the course of 2023 was settled in cash totaling $3.3 million. There was no cash settlement of awards in the three
months ended March 31, 2024.

Performance Stock Units—PSUs are granted to senior executives, and are subject to a service condition in combination with either a
market condition or a performance condition.

Following the end of the measurement period, the recipients of PSUs who remain employed will vest in, and be issued a number of
shares of the Company's class A common stock, generally ranging from 0% to 200% of the number of
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PSUs granted. For market condition awards, this is determined based upon the performance of the Company's class A common stock over a
three-year measurement period relative to a specified peer group (such measurement metric the "relative total shareholder return"). With
respect to performance condition awards, vesting is determined based upon achievement of three-year cumulative distributable earnings
("DE") per share targets, and the relative total shareholder return metric is then applied to determine the final number of shares vested.

Recipients of PSUs whose employment is terminated after the first anniversary of their PSU grant are eligible to vest in a portion of the
PSU award following the end of the measurement period based upon the final number of shares vested for that award. PSUs also contain
dividend equivalent rights which entitle the recipients to a payment equal to the amount of dividends that would have been paid on the shares
that are ultimately issued at the end of the measurement period.

The relative total shareholder return metric was valued using a Monte Carlo simulation under a risk-neutral premise, applying the
following assumptions. This forms the fair value of market condition awards. The fair value of performance condition awards also incorporate,
in addition to the relative total shareholder return metric, the probability of achieving the cumulative DE per share targets.

2024 PSU Grants 2023 PSU Grants 2022 PSU Grants

Expected volatility of the Company's class A common stock 44.6% 41.3% 32.4%
Expected annual dividend yield 0.2% 0.3% —%
Risk-free rate (per annum) 4.5% 3.8% 2.0%

__________
Based upon the historical volatility of the Company's stock and those of a specified peer group.
Based upon the Company's expected annualized dividends. Expected dividend yield was zero for the March 2022 PSU awards as common dividends were suspended
beginning the second quarter of 2020 and reinstated in the third quarter of 2022.

    Based upon the continuously compounded zero-coupon U.S. Treasury yield for the term coinciding with the measurement period of the award as of valuation date.

Fair value of PSU awards is recognized on a straight-line basis over their measurement period as compensation expense. With respect
to performance condition awards, expense recognition occurs only if and when it is probable that the cumulative DE per share targets will be
achieved and subject to reversal if no longer probable. In contrast, expense recognized on market condition awards is not subject to reversal
even if the total shareholder return metric is not achieved.

The dividend equivalent right is accounted for as a liability-classified award. The fair value of the dividend equivalent right is recognized
as compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the measurement period, and is subject to adjustment to fair value at each reporting
period.

LTIP Units—LTIP units are units in the Operating Company that are designated as profits interests for federal income tax purposes.
Unvested LTIP units that are subject to market conditions do not accrue distributions. Each vested LTIP unit is convertible, at the election of
the holder (subject to capital account limitation), into one common OP Unit and upon conversion, subject to the redemption terms of OP Units
(Note 8).

LTIP units issued have both a service condition and a market condition based upon the Company's class A common stock achieving a
target price over a predetermined measurement period, subject to continuous employment to the time of vesting, and valued using a Monte
Carlo simulation.

The following assumptions were applied in the Monte Carlo model under a risk-neutral premise:

2022 LTIP Grant 2019 LTIP Grant 

Expected volatility of the Company's class A common stock 34.0% 28.3%
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 8.1%
Risk-free rate (per annum) 3.6% 1.8%

__________
    Represents 2.5 million LTIP units granted to the Company's Chief Executive Officer, Marc Ganzi, in connection with the Company's acquisition of Digital Bridge Holdings,

LLC in July 2019, with vesting based upon the Company's class A common stock price closing at or above $40 over any 90 consecutive trading days prior to the fifth
anniversary of the grant date.
Based upon historical volatility of the Company's stock and those of a specified peer group.

    Based upon the Company's most recently issued dividend prior to grant date and closing price of the Company's class A common stock on grant date. Expected dividend
yield was zero for the June 2022 award as common dividends were suspended beginning the second quarter of 2020 and reinstated in the third quarter of 2022.

    Based upon the continuously compounded zero-coupon US Treasury yield for the term coinciding with the measurement period of the award as of valuation date.

 (1)

 (2)

 (3)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)

(1)

 (2)

(3)

 (4)

(1)

(2)    

(3)

(4)
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Equity-based compensation cost on LTIP units is recognized on a straight-line basis either over (1) the service period for awards with a
service condition only; or (2) the derived service period for awards with both a service condition and a market condition, irrespective of
whether the market condition is satisfied. The derived service period is a service period that is inferred from the application of the simulation
technique used in the valuation of the award, and represents the median of the terms in the simulation in which the market condition is
satisfied.

Deferred Stock Units—Certain non-employee directors may elect to defer the receipt of annual base fees and/or restricted stock awards,
and in lieu, receive awards of DSUs. DSUs awarded in lieu of annual base fees are fully vested on their grant date, while DSUs awarded in
lieu of restricted stock awards vest one year from their grant date. DSUs are entitled to a dividend equivalent, in the form of additional DSUs
based on dividends declared and paid on the Company's class A common stock, subject to the same restrictions and vesting conditions,
where applicable. Upon separation of service from the Company, vested DSUs will be settled in shares of the Company’s class A common
stock. Fair value of DSUs are determined based upon the price of the Company's class A common stock on grant date and recognized
immediately if fully vested upon grant, or on a straight-line basis over the vesting period as equity based compensation expense and equity.

Equity-based compensation cost is presented on the consolidated statement of operations, as follows. 
Three Months Ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2024 2023

Compensation expense $ 9,214 $ 10,770 
Administrative expense — 228 

$ 9,214 $ 10,998 

Changes in unvested equity awards pursuant to the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan are summarized below. 
Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Value
Restricted

Stock LTIP Units DSUs RSUs PSUs Total PSUs
All Other
Awards

Unvested shares and units at
December 31, 2023 2,813,369 2,625,000 64,099 599,347 1,274,435 7,376,250 $ 21.66 $ 9.80 

Granted 1,523,257 — 127 26,610 199,069 1,749,063 19.27 18.04 
Vested (982,831) — (91) — — (982,922) — 16.85 
Forfeited (59,157) — — — (643,178) (702,335) 26.92 22.46 

Unvested shares and units at
March 31, 2024 3,294,638 2,625,000 64,135 625,957 830,326 7,440,056 17.01 10.57 

__________
Represents the number of LTIP units granted subject to vesting upon achievement of market condition. LTIP units that do not meet the market condition within the
measurement period will be forfeited.
Represents the number of RSUs granted subject to vesting upon achievement of performance condition. RSUs that do not meet the performance condition at the end of the
measurement period will be forfeited.
Number of PSUs granted does not reflect potential increases or decreases that could result from the final outcome of the total shareholder return measured at the end of the
performance period. PSUs for which the total shareholder return was not met at the end of the performance period are forfeited.

Fair value of equity awards that vested, determined based upon their respective fair values at vesting date, totaled $18.4 million and
$20.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

At March 31, 2024, aggregate unrecognized compensation cost for all unvested equity awards pursuant to the 2014 Equity Incentive
Plan was $57.5 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.3 years. This excludes $6.3 million of
unvested RSUs that as of March 31, 2024 are not probable of achieving their performance condition and have a remaining performance
measurement period of approximately two months.

14. Variable Interest Entities

A VIE is an entity that either (i) lacks sufficient equity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties; (ii) whose equity holders lack the characteristics of a controlling financial interest; and/or (iii) is established with non-substantive
voting rights. The following discusses the Company's involvement with VIEs where the Company is the primary beneficiary and consolidates
the VIEs or where the Company is not the primary beneficiary and does not consolidate the VIEs.

(1) (2) (3)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)    
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Operating Subsidiary

The Company's operating subsidiary, OP, is a limited liability company that has governing provisions that are the functional equivalent
of a limited partnership. The Company holds the majority of membership interest in OP, acts as the managing member of OP and exercises
full responsibility, discretion and control over the day-to-day management of OP. The noncontrolling interests in OP do not have substantive
liquidation rights, substantive kick-out rights without cause, or substantive participating rights that could be exercised by a simple majority of
noncontrolling interest members (including by such a member unilaterally). The absence of such rights, which represent voting rights in a
limited partnership equivalent structure, would render OP to be a VIE. The Company, as managing member, has the power to direct the core
activities of OP that most significantly affect OP's performance, and through its majority interest in OP, has both the right to receive benefits
from and the obligation to absorb losses of OP. Accordingly, the Company is the primary beneficiary of OP and consolidates OP. As the
Company conducts its business and holds its assets and liabilities through OP, the total assets and liabilities, earnings (losses), and cash
flows of OP represent substantially all of the total consolidated assets and liabilities, earnings (losses), and cash flows of the Company.

Company-Sponsored Funds

The Company sponsors funds and other investment vehicles as general partner for the purpose of providing investment management
services in exchange for management fees and carried interest. These funds are established as limited partnerships or equivalent structures.
Limited partners of the funds do not have either substantive liquidation rights, or substantive kick-out rights without cause, or substantive
participating rights that could be exercised by a simple majority of limited partners or by a single limited partner. Accordingly, the absence of
such rights, which represent voting rights in a limited partnership, results in the funds being considered VIEs. The nature of the Company's
involvement with its sponsored funds comprise fee arrangements and equity interests in its capacity as general partner and general partner
affiliate. The fee arrangements are commensurate with the level of management services provided by the Company, and contain terms and
conditions that are customary to similar at-market fee arrangements.

Consolidated Company-Sponsored Funds—The Company currently consolidates sponsored funds in which it has more than an
insignificant equity interest in the fund as general partner. As a result, the Company is considered to be acting in the capacity of a principal of
the sponsored fund and is therefore the primary beneficiary of the fund. The Company’s exposure is limited to its capital account balance in
the consolidated funds of $199.6 million at March 31, 2024 and $200.8 million at December 31, 2023. The liabilities of the consolidated funds
may only be settled using assets of the consolidated funds, and the Company, as general partner, is not obligated to provide any financial
support to the consolidated funds. At March 31, 2024, the Company had unfunded equity commitments of $9.3 million to a consolidated fund.

The following table presents the assets and liabilities of the consolidated funds:
(In thousands) March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 59,402 $ 69,654 
Investments (Note 4) 489,828 482,911 
Other assets 2,651 576 

$ 551,881 $ 553,141 
Liabilities

Other liabilities
Securities sold short $ 44,248 $ 38,482 
Due to custodian 8,966 9,415 
Other 2,976 16,313 

$ 56,190 $ 64,210 

In April 2024, two single asset funds were deconsolidated as the Company no longer holds a controlling financial interest in these funds.
The Company's co-investment in a portfolio company of the funds was restructured and is no longer held through the funds, but invested in
the portfolio company through a parallel vehicle. The Company's co-investment in the portfolio company is reflected as an equity method
investment under the fair value option effective April 2024. The deconsolidation of the funds resulted in a removal of approximately
$263 million of assets attributed to the limited partners of the funds that had represented noncontrolling interests in investment entities.

Unconsolidated Company-Sponsored Funds—The Company does not consolidate its sponsored funds where it has insignificant equity
interests in these funds as general partner. As such interests absorb insignificant variability from the fund, the Company is considered to be
acting in the capacity of an agent of the fund and is therefore not the primary
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beneficiary of these funds. The Company accounts for its equity interests in unconsolidated funds under the equity method. The Company's
maximum exposure to loss is limited to the outstanding balance of its investment in the unconsolidated funds (Note 4) of $1.88 billion at
March 31, 2024 and $1.86 billion at December 31, 2023. The Company also has receivables from its unconsolidated funds for fee revenue
and reimbursable or recoverable costs, as discussed in Note 15. At March 31, 2024, the Company's unfunded equity commitments to its
unconsolidated funds as general partner and general partner affiliate totaled $250.5 million. Generally, the timing for funding of these
commitments is not known and the commitments are callable on demand at any time prior to their respective expirations.

15. Transactions with Affiliates

Affiliates include (i) investment vehicles that the Company sponsors and/or manages, and in which the Company may have an equity
interest; (ii) portfolio companies of sponsored funds; (iii) the Company's other equity investments outside of sponsored funds; and (iv)
directors and employees of the Company (collectively, "employees").

Amounts due from and due to affiliates consist of the following:

(In thousands) March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Due from Affiliates
Investment vehicles and portfolio companies
Fee revenue $ 68,595 $ 71,427 
Cost reimbursements and recoverable expenses 17,383 14,388 

Employees and other affiliates 1,688 — 
$ 87,666 $ 85,815 

Due to Affiliates (Note 6)
Investment vehicles—InfraBridge (Note 3) $ 10,123 $ 10,123 
Employees and other affiliates 686 541 

$ 10,809 $ 10,664 

Significant transactions with affiliates include the following:

Fee Revenue—Fee revenue earned from investment vehicles that the Company manages and/or sponsors, and may have an equity
interest, are presented in Note 12. Substantially all fee revenue are from affiliates, except for management fees and incentive fee from sub-
advisory accounts and generally, other fee revenue.

Cost Reimbursements and Recoverable Expenses—The Company receives reimbursements and recovers certain costs paid on behalf
of investment vehicles sponsored by the Company, which include: (i) organization and offering costs related to formation and capital raising
of the investment vehicles up to specified thresholds; (ii) professional fees incurred in performing investment due diligence; and (iii) direct and
indirect operating costs for managing the operations of certain investment vehicles.

To the extent the Company determines it acts in the capacity of principal in the incurrence of such costs, the related reimbursements
and recoverable expenses are included in other income, which totaled $2.5 million and $1.3 million for the three months ended March 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively. To the extent the Company determines that it acts in the capacity of an agent, the cost reimbursement is
presented on a net basis in the consolidated statements of operations.

Warehoused Investments—The Company may acquire and temporarily warehouse investments on behalf of prospective sponsored
investment vehicles that are actively fundraising (Note 4). The warehoused investments are transferred to the investment vehicle when
sufficient third party capital, including debt, is raised. The Company is generally paid a fee by the investment vehicle, akin to an interest
charge, typically calculated as a percentage of the acquisition price of the investment, to compensate the Company for its cost of holding the
investment during the warehouse period. The terms of such arrangements may differ for each sponsored investment vehicle and by
investment.

Digital Real Estate Acquisitions—Marc Ganzi, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Ben Jenkins, President and Chief
Investment Officer of the Company, were former owners of Digital Bridge Holdings, LLC ("DBH") prior to its merger into the Company in July
2019. Messrs. Ganzi and Jenkins had retained their equity investments and general partner interests in the portfolio companies of DBH,
which include DataBank and Vantage.

As a result of the personal investments made by Messrs. Ganzi and Jenkins in DataBank and Vantage SDC prior to the Company’s
acquisition of DBH, additional investments made by the Company in DataBank and Vantage SDC subsequent to their initial acquisitions may
trigger future carried interest payments to Messrs. Ganzi and Jenkins upon the occurrence of future realization events. Such investments
made by the Company include ongoing payments for the build-out of expansion capacity, including lease-up of the expanded capacity and
existing inventory, in Vantage SDC.
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Carried Interest Allocation from Sponsored Investment Vehicles—With respect to investment vehicles sponsored by the Company for
which Messrs. Ganzi and Jenkins are invested in their capacity as former owners of DBH, and not in their capacity as employees of the
Company, any carried interest entitlement attributed to such investments by Messrs. Ganzi and Jenkins as general partner are not subject to
continuing vesting provisions and do not represent compensatory arrangements to the Company. Such carried interest allocation to Messrs.
Ganzi and Jenkins that are unrealized or distributed but unpaid are included in noncontrolling interests on the balance sheet in the amount of
$115.5 million at March 31, 2024 and $112.2 million at December 31, 2023. Carried interest allocated is recorded as net income attributable
to noncontrolling interests totaling $3.4 million and $2.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Investment in Managed Investment Vehicles—Subject to the Company's related party policies and procedures, certain employees may
invest on a discretionary basis in investment vehicles sponsored by the Company, either directly in the vehicle or indirectly through the
Company's general partner entity. These investments are generally not subject to management fees or carried interest, but otherwise bear
their proportionate share of other operating expenses of the investment vehicles. Such investments in consolidated investment vehicles and
general partner entities totaled $36.2 million at March 31, 2024 and $22.7 million at December 31, 2023, reflected in redeemable
noncontrolling interests and noncontrolling interests on the balance sheet. The employees' share of net income was $0.1 million and
$0.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Such amounts are reflected in net income (loss) attributable
to noncontrolling interests on the consolidated statement of operations and exclude their share of carried interest allocation, which is
reflected in incentive fee and carried interest compensation expense.

Aircraft—Pursuant to Mr. Ganzi’s employment agreement, as amended, the Company has agreed to reimburse Mr. Ganzi for certain
variable operational costs of business travel on a chartered or private jet (including any aircraft that Mr. Ganzi may partially or fully own),
provided that the Company will not reimburse the allocable share (based on the number of passengers) of variable operational costs for any
passenger on such flight who is not traveling on Company business. Additionally, the Company has also agreed to reimburse Mr. Ganzi for
certain defined fixed costs of any aircraft owned by Mr. Ganzi. The fixed cost reimbursements will be made based on an allocable portion of
an aircraft’s annual budgeted fixed cash operating costs, based on the number of hours the aircraft will be used for business purposes. At
least once a year, the Company will reconcile the budgeted fixed operating costs with the actual fixed operating costs of the aircraft, and the
Company or Mr. Ganzi, as applicable, will make a payment for any difference. The Company reimbursed Mr. Ganzi $0.9 million and
$1.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 respectively.

16. Segment Reporting

Beginning in 2024, the entirety of the Company's business, inclusive of all income and expense from continuing operations of the
Company as a whole, is reported as a single reportable segment. The Company no longer distinguishes income (loss) items and attributes
costs between its investment management business and corporate activities. The approach of managing the whole Company as a single
business is consistent with the manner in which its chief operating decision makers assess the allocation of resources and performance of
the Company.

Prior to December 31, 2023, the Company had conducted its business through two reportable segments, that is, Investment
Management and Operating. On December 31, 2023 the Operating segment was discontinued following a full deconsolidation of the portfolio
companies in the Operating segment, which qualified as discontinued operations (Note 2).

At December 31, 2023, subsequent to the discontinuation of the Operating segment, the Company had conducted its business through
one reportable segment of Investment Management, reflecting the Company's investment management business, which bore only operating
costs that were directly attributable or otherwise can be subjected to a reasonable and systematic attribution to the investment management
business. Remaining unallocated operating costs, along with corporate level financing and transaction activities, as well as income (loss)
from the Company's investment in its sponsored funds as general partner affiliate, and warehoused/seed investments were not attributed to
the investment management business and previously presented as Corporate and Other.

The segment earnings measure of net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. remains
consistent with prior periods, except that this measure was previously applied to the Investment Management segment, and beginning 2024,
is applied to the Company as a whole.

Segment information for all prior periods presented have been conformed to current year presentation.
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Segment Results of Operations

The following table presents net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. for the Company's
single reportable segment and reconciled to the consolidated statement of operations.

Three Months Ended March 31,
 2024 2023
Revenues

Fee revenue $ 72,955 $ 59,126 
Carried interest allocation (reversal) (8,478) (54,756)
Principal investment income 2,845 3,562 
Other income 7,071 10,564 

Total revenues 74,393 18,496 
Expenses

Interest expense 5,192 8,131 
Transaction-related costs 760 8,527 
Depreciation and amortization 9,167 6,875 
Compensation expense—cash and equity-based 51,184 47,471 
Compensation expense—incentive fee and carried interest allocation (reversal) (6,714) (36,831)
Administrative and other expenses 24,310 20,447 

Total expenses 83,899 54,620 
Other income (loss)
Other gain (loss), net (5,894) (144,514)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (15,400) (180,638)
Income tax benefit (expense) (1,246) (1,098)
Income (loss) from continuing operations (16,646) (181,736)
Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests:
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 733 6,943 
Investment entities 1,467 909 
Operating Company (2,348) (14,849)

Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. $ (16,498) $ (174,739)

Reconciliation of segment earnings measure to consolidated statement of operations:
Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. $ (16,498) $ (174,739)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. (13,130) (23,058)
Net income (loss) attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. $ (29,628) $ (197,797)

17. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

The Company may be involved in litigation in the ordinary course of business. As of March 31, 2024, the Company was not involved in
any legal proceedings that are expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or
liquidity.

18. Subsequent Events

Except as disclosed in Note 7 and Note 14, no other subsequent events have occurred that would require recognition in the
consolidated financial statements or disclosure in the accompanying notes.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this "Quarterly Report") constitute forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), and we intend such statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions contained therein. Forward-
looking statements relate to expectations, beliefs, projections, future plans and strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar
expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the use of
forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” or
“potential” or the negative of these words and phrases or similar words or phrases which are predictions of or indicate future events or trends
and which do not relate solely to historical matters. You can also identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategy, plans or
intentions.

The forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report reflect our current views about future events and are subject to
numerous known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and changes in circumstances that may cause our actual results to differ
significantly from those expressed in any forward-looking statement. The following factors, among others, could cause actual results and
future events to differ materially from those set forth or contemplated in the forward-looking statements:

• difficult market and political conditions, including those resulting from supply chain difficulties, inflation, higher interest rates, a general
economic slowdown or a recession;

• our ability to raise capital from investors for our Company, our funds and the companies that we manage;

• the performance of our funds and investments relative to our expectations and the highly variable nature of our revenues, earnings
and cash flow;

• our exposure to risks inherent in the ownership and operation of infrastructure and digital infrastructure assets, including our reliance
on third-party suppliers to provide power, network connectivity and certain other services to our managed companies;

• our exposure to business risks in Europe, Asia, Latin America and other foreign markets;

• our ability to increase assets under management ("AUM") and expand our existing and new investment strategies while maintaining
consistent standards and controls;

• our ability to appropriately manage conflicts of interest;

• our ability to expand into new investment strategies, geographic markets and businesses, including through acquisitions in the
infrastructure and investment management industries;

• the impact of climate change and regulatory efforts associated with environmental, social and governance matters;

• our ability to maintain effective information and cybersecurity policies, procedures and capabilities and the impact of any cybersecurity
incident affecting our systems or network or the system and network of any of our managed companies or service providers;

• the ability of our portfolio companies to attract and retain key customers and to provide reliable services without disruption;

• any litigation and contractual claims against us and our affiliates, including potential settlement and litigation of such claims;

• our ability to obtain and maintain financing arrangements, including securitizations, on favorable or comparable terms or at all;

• the general volatility of the securities markets in which we participate;

• the market value of our assets and effects of hedging instruments on our assets;

• the impact of legislative, regulatory and competitive changes, including those related to privacy and data protection and new SEC
rules governing investment advisers;

• whether we will be able to utilize existing tax attributes to offset taxable income to the extent contemplated;

• our ability to maintain our exemption from registration as an investment company under the 1940 Act;

• changes in our board of directors or management team, and availability of qualified personnel;
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• our ability to make or maintain distributions to our stockholders; and

• our understanding of and ability to successfully navigate the competitive landscape in which we and our managed companies operate.

While forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs, assumptions and expectations, they are not guarantees of future
performance. Furthermore, we disclaim any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect changes in
underlying assumptions or factors, of new information, data or methods, future events or other changes. Moreover, because we operate in a
very competitive and rapidly changing environment, new risk factors are likely to emerge from time to time. We caution investors not to place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements and urge you to carefully review the disclosures we make concerning risks in Part I, Item
1A. "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 and in Part II, Item 7. “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Quarterly Report. Readers of this Quarterly Report should
also read our other periodic filings made with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") and other publicly filed documents for
further discussion regarding such factors.

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes
thereto, which are included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report, as well as information contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2023, which is accessible on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

In this Quarterly Report, unless specifically stated otherwise or the context indicates otherwise, the terms " the "Company," "DBRG,"
"we," "our" and "us" refer to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. References to the “Operating Partnership,” our
“Operating Company” and the “OP” refer to DigitalBridge Operating Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and the operating
company of the Company, and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Our Business

We are a leading global digital infrastructure investment manager, deploying and managing capital across the digital ecosystem,
including data centers, cell towers, fiber networks, small cells, and edge infrastructure. Our diverse global investor base includes public and
private pensions, sovereign wealth funds, asset managers, insurance companies, and endowments. At March 31, 2024, we had $33 billion of
fee earning equity under management ("FEEUM").

We are headquartered in Boca Raton, Florida, with key offices in New York, Los Angeles, London, Luxembourg and Singapore, and
have approximately 300 employees.

We operate as a taxable C Corporation and conduct substantially all of our activities and hold substantially all of our assets and
liabilities through our Operating Company. At March 31, 2024, we owned 93% of the Operating Company as its sole managing member.

Our Investment Management Platform

Our investment management platform is anchored by our value-add funds within the DigitalBridge Partners ("DBP") infrastructure equity
offerings. In providing institutional investors access to investments across different segments of the digital infrastructure ecosystem, our
investment offerings have expanded to include core equity, credit and liquid securities.

• Our DBP series of funds focus on value-add digital infrastructure, investing in and building businesses across the digital infrastructure
sector.

• Core Equity invests in digital infrastructure businesses and assets with long-duration cash flow profiles, primarily in more developed
geographies (the Strategic Assets Fund, or "SAF").

• DigitalBridge Credit is our private credit strategy that delivers credit solutions to corporate borrowers in the digital infrastructure sector
globally through credit financing products such as first and second lien term loans, mezzanine debt, preferred equity and
construction/delay-draw loans, among other products.

• Our Liquid Strategies are fundamental long-only and long-short public equities strategies with well-defined mandates, leveraging the
network and intellectual capital of our platform to build liquid portfolios of high quality, undervalued businesses across digital
infrastructure, real estate, and technology, media, and telecom.
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• InfraBridge is focused on mid-market investments in the digital infrastructure and related sectors of transportation and logistics, and
energy transition (the Global Infrastructure Fund ("GIF") series of funds).

Significant Developments

The following summarizes significant developments that affected our business and results of operations in 2024 through the date of this
filing.

Capital Raise

• In 2024 through April 2024, we have raised $1.14 billion of capital, primarily $0.5 billion for DigitalBridge Partners III ("DBP III"), the
third series in our flagship value-add strategy, and $0.3 billion for the second series of our credit strategy. To date, total third party
capital raised for DBP III stands at $3.2 billion.

Financing

• As of the end of April 2024, we have further reduced our leverage with full exchange/redemption of our remaining $78.4 million of
5.75% senior notes, which will result in annual interest savings of approximately $4.5 million. $73.4 million of note principal was
exchanged for 8.2 million shares of the Company's class A common stock and $5.0 million of note principal was redeemed for cash.
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Fund Performance Metrics

Certain performance metrics for our key investment funds from inception through March 31, 2024 are presented in the table below.
Excluded are funds with less than one year of performance history as of March 31, 2024, funds and separately managed accounts in the
liquid strategy, co-investment vehicles and separately capitalized portfolio companies. The historical performance of our funds is not
indicative of their future performance nor indicative of the performance of our other existing funds or of any of our future funds. An investment
in DBRG is not an investment in any of our funds and these fund performance metrics are not indicative of the performance of DBRG.

($ in millions)
Inception

Date 
Total

Commitments
Invested
Capital 

Available
Capital 

Investment Value MOIC IRR 
Fund Unrealized Realized Total Gross Net Gross Net

Value-Add
DBP I Mar-2018 $4,059 $4,836 $98 $6,274 $1,214 $7,488 1.5x  1.4x 15.9% 11.3%
DBP II Nov-2020 8,286 6,964 1,103 7,850 817 8,667 1.2x 1.2x 11.0% 7.7%

Core
SAF Nov-2022 1,110 884 220 936 13 949 1.1x 1.1x 8.5% 5.6%

InfraBridge
GIF I Mar-2015 1,411 1,507 406 1,240 1,091 2,331 1.5x  1.4x 9.4% 6.9%
GIF II Jan-2018 3,382 3,169 26 2,608 105 2,713 0.9x 0.8x <0% <0%

Credit
Credit I Dec-2022 697 394 377 352 86 438  1.1x  1.1x 17.2% 10.8%

__________
Performance metrics are presented in aggregate for main fund vehicle, its parallel vehicles and alternative investment vehicles.
Inception date represents first close date of the fund, except for Credit I which is the first capital call date. The manager/general partner of the InfraBridge funds were
acquired in Feb-2023.
Invested capital represents the original cost and subsequent fundings to investments. Invested capital includes financing costs and investment related expenses which are
capitalized. With respect to InfraBridge funds, such costs are expensed during the period and excluded from their determination of invested capital.
Available capital represents unfunded commitments, including recallable capital.
Realized value represents proceeds from dispositions that have closed and all earnings from both realized and unrealized investments, including interest, dividend and
ticking fees.
Total value is the sum of unrealized fair value and realized value of investments.
Total investment gross multiple of invested capital (MOIC) is calculated as total value of investments, that is realized proceeds and unrealized fair value, divided by invested
capital, without giving effect to allocation of management fee expense, other fund expenses and general partner carried interest (both distributed and unrealized).
Total investment net MOIC is calculated as total value of investments, that is realized proceeds and unrealized fair value, divided by invested capital, after giving effect to
allocation of management fee expense, other fund expenses and general partner carried interest (both distributed and unrealized).
MOIC calculations exclude capital not subject to fees and/or carried interest, including general partner and general partner affiliate capital. MOICs are calculated at the fund
level and do not reflect MOICs at the individual investor level.
Gross internal rate of return (IRR) represents annualized time-weighted return on invested capital based upon total value of investments, that is realized proceeds and
unrealized fair value, without giving effect to allocation of management fee expense, other fund expenses and general partner carried interest (both distributed and
unrealized). Gross IRR is calculated from the date of investment fundings (taking into account the benefit of any credit facility at the fund level) to the date of investment
distributions. For unrealized investments, assumes a liquidating distribution equal to the investment fair value, net of amounts funded through the fund's credit facility, if any.
Gross IRR is calculated at the fund level and does not reflect gross IRR of any individual investor due to timing of investor level inflows and outflows, among other factors.
Net IRR is gross IRR after giving effect to allocation of management fee expense, other fund expenses and general partner carried interest (both distributed and unrealized).
Net IRR is calculated at the individual investor level based upon timing and amount of fee-paying third party investor level inflows and outflows, and excludes capital not
subject to fees and/or carried interest, including general partner and general partner affiliate capital.
If an investment is later syndicated to one or more third-party investors, the IRRs set forth herein will include cash flows associated with such syndication. This treatment of
syndication transactions was implemented in fiscal year 2024 and applied on a life-to-date basis for all funds presented.
Our funds generally permit us to recycle certain capital distributed to limited partners during certain time periods. The exclusion of recycled capital generally causes invested
and realized amounts to be lower and MOICs to be higher than had recycled capital been included. In addition, for funds that utilize a subscription line credit facility in
advance of receiving capital contributions from investors, reported IRRs may be higher or lower than if such facility had not been utilized.

(2) (3) (4)

(7) (9) (8) (9)

(1) (5) (6)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)    

(4)    

(5)    

(6)    

(7)    

(8)    

(9)    
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Results of Operations 
 Three Months Ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 Change
Revenues
Fee revenue $ 72,955 $ 59,126 $ 13,829 
Carried interest allocation (reversal) (8,478) (54,756) 46,278 
Principal investment income 2,845 3,562 (717)
Other income 7,071 10,564 (3,493)

Total revenues 74,393 18,496 55,897 
Expenses
Interest expense 5,192 8,131 (2,939)
Transaction-related costs 760 8,527 (7,767)
Depreciation and amortization 9,167 6,875 2,292 
Compensation expense—cash and equity-based 51,184 47,471 3,713 
Compensation expense—incentive fee and carried interest allocation (reversal) (6,714) (36,831) 30,117 
Administrative and other expenses 24,310 20,447 3,863 

Total expenses 83,899 54,620 29,279 
Other income (loss)

Other gain (loss), net (5,894) (144,514) 138,620 
Income (Loss) before income taxes (15,400) (180,638) 165,238 

Income tax benefit (expense) (1,246) (1,098) (148)
Income (Loss) from continuing operations (16,646) (181,736) 165,090 
Income (Loss) from discontinued operations (14,120) (110,608) 96,488 
Net income (loss) (30,766) (292,344) 261,578 
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests:
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 733 6,943 (6,210)
Investment entities 1,467 (84,828) 86,295 
Operating Company (3,338) (16,662) 13,324 

Net income (loss) attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. (29,628) (197,797) 168,169 
Preferred stock dividends 14,660 14,676 (16)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ (44,288) $ (212,473) 168,185 
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Revenues

Total revenues were $74.4 million in 2024 compared to $18.5 million in 2023, driven by significant variability in unrealized carried
interest and an increase in fee revenue, primarily benefiting from continued fundraising.

The key components of revenue are discussed in more detail below.

Fee Revenue

Three Months Ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 Change

Management fees $ 71,844 $ 57,158 $ 14,686 

Incentive fees 881 869 12 

Other fee revenue 230 1,099 (869)
$ 72,955 $ 59,126 13,829 

Fee revenue increased $13.8 million or 23% as FEEUM increased $4.8 billion or 17% from $27.7 billion at March 31, 2023 to
$32.5 billion at March 31, 2024. The higher fee revenue was driven by our third flagship fund, DBP III, which held its first close in November
2023 ($9.3 million) and InfraBridge funds, acquired in February 2023, that contributed a full quarter of fees in 2024 ($3.4 million). Incentive
fees in both periods were attributed to our liquid securities strategy. Other fees were higher in 2023, attributed largely to loan origination fees
in connection with syndication of our credit investments.

Carried Interest Allocation

Three Months Ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 Change
Carried interest allocation

Distributed $ — $ 476 $ (476)
Unrealized (8,478) (55,232) 46,754 

$ (8,478) $ (54,756) 46,278 

Carried interest allocation represents gross carried interest from our general partner interests in sponsored investment vehicles prior to
allocations to management and Wafra. Unrealized carried interest is subject to adjustments each period, including reversals, based upon the
cumulative performance of the underlying investments of these vehicles that are measured at fair value, until such time as the carried interest
is distributed.

There was a higher net reversal of unrealized carried interest in 2023 compared to 2024, with reversals in both periods driven by DBP II.
As DBP II is still in the early stage of its lifecycle, the carried interest reversal is a function of continuing accrual of preferred returns over time
at a higher rate than fair value increases on its underlying investments. In 2024, this reversal was partially offset by co-investment vehicles
and our credit fund that recently began accruing carried interest.

Principal Investment Income

Principal investment income represents the Company's proportionate share of net income (loss) from investments in its sponsored
investment vehicles, which is predominantly unrealized gain (loss) from changes in fair value of underlying fund investments. Principal
investment income of $2.8 million was a net decrease of $0.7 million from 2023. The change was driven by fair value decrease in InfraBridge
funds and the Company's co-investment in an InfraBridge portfolio company ($11.9 million), largely offset by fair value increase in the
DataBank funds ($9.8 million) and distribution of interest income from our credit fund ($1.2 million).

Other Income

Other income was $3.5 million lower at $7.1 million in 2024. 2023 had higher interest income from money market deposits and dividend
income from our credit fund ($4.6 million), which was partially offset by incremental costs reimbursable by InfraBridge funds in 2024 that are
grossed up as other income and expense ($1.0 million).
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Expenses

Total expenses was $83.9 million in 2024 compared to $54.6 million in 2023, primarily attributed to the change in unrealized carried
interest compensation.

Changes in the various expense items are discussed below.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased $2.9 million to $5.2 million in 2024 due to full repayment of the $200 million 5.00% convertible notes upon
maturity in April 2023.

Transaction-Related Costs

Transaction-related costs were $7.8 million lower in 2024 at $0.8 million, as 2023 included costs associated with InfraBridge acquisition
($7.0 million) and unconsummated deals.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $2.3 million in 2024 due to a full quarter of amortization on InfraBridge intangible
assets acquired in February 2023.

Compensation Expense

Three Months Ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 Change
Cash and equity-based compensation
Cash compensation and benefits $ 41,970 $ 36,701 $ 5,269 
Equity-based compensation 9,214 10,770 (1,556)

$ 51,184 $ 47,471 3,713 

Incentive fee and carried interest compensation allocation (reversal) $ (6,714) $ (36,831) $ 30,117 

Cash and equity-based compensation—The increase can be attributed to a full quarter of cash compensation in 2024 for InfraBridge
which was acquired in February 2023 and additional headcount to support our growing investment management business.

Incentive and carried interest compensation allocation—The net reversal in compensation expense is consistent with the movement in
carried interest, as discussed above.

Administrative and Other Expenses

Administrative and other expenses increased $3.9 million to $24.3 million, which can be attributed largely to placement fees in 2024 for
DBP III fundraising.

Other Gain (Loss), Net

Other loss was $5.9 million in 2024 compared to $144.5 million in 2023.

Other loss in 2024 was driven by $5.1 million loss due to an increase in the liability fair value of previously issued warrants and
$3.3 million write-down in other equity investment fair value, partially offset by $2.0 million net gain on marketable equity securities of our
consolidated liquid funds

Other loss in 2023 was driven by (i) a $133.3 million fair value write-down in March 2023 on an unsecured promissory note from the
2022 sale of our Wellness Infrastructure business, (ii) $13.7 million write-down in other equity investment fair value, and (iii) $4.5 million loss
due to an increase in the liability fair value of previously issued warrants. This was partially offset by $8.6 million net gain on marketable
equity securities of our consolidated liquid funds.

Income Tax Benefit (Expense)

Income tax expense was $1.2 million in 2024 and $1.1 million in 2023. 2024 reflects primarily the income tax effect of foreign
subsidiaries, in particular, the InfraBridge investment management business in Europe that was acquired in February 2023. In 2024, current
tax expense from the operating activities of the foreign InfraBridge entities was largely offset by deferred tax benefit driven by intangible asset
amortization, resulting in an immaterial income tax expense. The Company otherwise has operating losses and capital loss carryforwards
that can be applied against current income tax
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expense for its domestic entities, and have established a full valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets of these entities, resulting in no
net income tax effect for its domestic entities.

Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations 
Three Months Ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2024 2023 Change
Revenues $ 1,832 $ 233,634 $ (231,802)
Expenses (3,068) (335,649) 332,581 
Other gain (loss) (12,961) (8,647) (4,314)

Income (Loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes (14,197) (110,662) 96,465 
Income tax benefit (expense) 77 54 23 

Income (Loss) from discontinued operations $ (14,120) $ (110,608) 96,488 
Income (Loss) from discontinued operations attributable to noncontrolling interests:

Investment entities — (85,737) 85,737 
Operating Company (990) (1,813) 823 

Income (Loss) from discontinued operations attributable to DigitalBridge Group, Inc. $ (13,130) $ (23,058) 9,928 

Loss from discontinued operations in 2024 primarily included a loss associated with a guarantee in connection with a previous bulk sale
of the Company's real estate investments. The loss in 2023 represent primarily the operations of the former Operating segment and
$9.7 million impairment of BRSP shares prior to disposition in March 2023, as discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Operating Metrics

Assets Under Management ("AUM") and Fee Earning Equity Under Management ("FEEUM")

We present below our AUM and FEEUM, which are key operating metrics in the alternative investment management industry. Our
calculation of AUM and FEEUM may differ from other investment managers, and as a result, may not be directly comparable to similar
measures presented by other investment managers.

Assets Under Management

AUM represents the total capital for which we provide investment management services and our general partner capital. AUM is
generally composed of third party capital managed by the Company and its affiliates, including capital that is not yet fee earning, or not
subject to fees and/or carried interest; and our general partner and general partner affiliate capital committed to our funds. AUM is largely
determined based upon invested capital as of the reporting date, including capital funded through third party financing at the underlying
portfolio companies; and committed capital for funds in their commitment stage. Our AUM is not based upon any definitions that may be set
forth in the governing documents of our managed funds or other investment vehicles, and not calculated pursuant to any regulatory
definitions.

Fee Earning Equity Under Management

FEEUM represents the total capital managed by the Company and its affiliates which earns management fees and/or incentive fees or
carried interest. FEEUM is generally based upon committed capital, invested capital, NAV or GAV, pursuant to the terms of each underlying
investment management agreement.
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Presented below are total AUM and FEEUM by product:
(In billions) March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Assets Under Management $ 80.1 $ 80.1

Fee Earning Equity Under Management
DBP infrastructure equity $ 13.1 $ 13.0
InfraBridge Global Infrastructure 5.1 5.1
Core Equity, Credit and Liquid Strategies 2.9 2.8
Co-invest vehicles 9.9 9.5
Separately capitalized portfolio companies 1.5 2.4

$ 32.5 $ 32.8

The following table summarizes changes in FEEUM:

Three Months Ended March
31, 2024(In billions)

Fee Earning Equity Under Management
Balance at January 1 $ 32.8 

Inflows 1.3 
Outflows (1.6)
Market activity and other — 

Balance at March 31 $ 32.5 

________
Inflows include closing on new capital raised where fees are earned on committed capital, deployment of capital where fees are earned on invested capital, new
subscriptions where fees are based on NAV, other changes in invested capital such as the effect of recapitalization and syndication, and FEEUM from acquired investment
vehicles.
Outflows include redemptions and withdrawals in Liquid Strategies, realizations where fees are based on invested capital, other changes in invested capital such as the
effect of recapitalization and syndication, change in fee basis from committed to invested capital and expiration of fee paying capital.
Market activity and other include changes in investment value based on NAV or GAV, and the effect of foreign exchange rates. Amount was less than $100 million in the first
quarter of 2024.

There was a marginal 1% decrease in FEEUM to $32.5 billion at March 31, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023. In the first quarter of
2024, FEEUM contributed by DBP III capital raise and additional invested capital from other DBP funds were offset by the effects of various
recapitalization and syndication of fund investments, resulting in a marginal net decrease in our fee base.

Non-GAAP Supplemental Financial Measures

We report the following non-GAAP financial measures attributable to the Operating Company: Fee Related Earnings (“FRE”) and
Distributable Earnings (“DE”). FRE and DE are common metrics utilized in the investment management sector.

We present FRE and DE at the Operating Company level, which is net of amounts attributed to noncontrolling interests, composed
largely of the limited partners's share of our consolidated funds and Wafra's share of earnings attributed to our general partner interest in
certain funds.

Beginning in 2024, FRE is reported on a Company-wide basis, consistent with the entirety of the Company's business representing a
single reportable segment (as discussed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements). In prior periods, the Company had reported
Investment Management FRE, which was an FRE measure specific to its previously reported Investment Management segment. The
Investment Management segment previously bore only operating costs that were directly attributable or otherwise can be subjected to a
reasonable and systematic attribution to the investment management business. Company-wide FRE includes all operating costs of the
Company as a whole that fall within the definition of FRE.

Additionally, Adjusted Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”) is no longer reported as a
non-GAAP financial measure in 2024 following the discontinuance of the Operating segment effective December 31, 2023. Adjusted EBITDA
was previously reported to facilitate an evaluation of the relative contribution of the Company's former Operating segment absent the effect of
leverage as the Operating segment had higher leverage relative to the Company's own capital structure.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)    
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We believe the non-GAAP financial measures of FRE and DE supplement and enhance the overall understanding of our underlying
financial performance and trends, and facilitate comparison among current, past and future periods and to other companies in similar lines of
business. We use FRE and DE in evaluating the Company’s ongoing business performance and in making operating decisions. For the same
reasons, we believe FRE and DE are useful financial measures to the Company’s investors and analysts.

As we evaluate profitability based upon continuing operations, these non-GAAP measures exclude results from discontinued
operations. DE presented for 2023 comparative period has been recast to exclude the Operating segment which qualified as discontinued
operations on December 31, 2023.

These non-GAAP financial measures should be considered as a supplement to and not an alternative or in lieu of GAAP net income
(loss) as measures of operating performance, or to cash flows from operating activities as indicators of liquidity. Our calculation of these non-
GAAP measures may differ from methodologies utilized by other companies for similarly titled performance measures and, as a result, may
not be fully comparable to those calculated by our peers.

Fee-Related Earnings

FRE is used to assess the extent to which direct base compensation and core operating expenses are covered by recurring fee
revenues in a stabilized investment management business. FRE represents recurring fee revenue, including incentive fees, that are not
subject to realization events related to underlying fund investments, net of compensation and administrative expenses. Such expenses
generally exclude non-cash equity-based compensation, carried interest compensation, and placement fee expense. Also, consistent with
DE, FRE excludes costs associated with strategic corporate actions, which are considered non-core items, and presents costs reimbursable
by our managed funds on a net basis (as opposed to a gross-up of other income and administrative costs). Where applicable, FRE is
adjusted for Start-Up FRE as defined below.

Fee revenues earned from consolidated funds and other investment vehicles are eliminated in consolidation. However, because the
fees are funded by and earned from third party investors in these consolidated vehicles who represent noncontrolling interests, our allocated
share of net income from the consolidated funds and other vehicles is increased by the amount of fees that are eliminated. The elimination of
these fees, therefore, does not affect net income (loss) attributable to DBRG. Accordingly, FRE is presented without giving effect to the
elimination of fee revenue to the extent such fees meet the definition of FRE.

FRE does not include distributed carried interest as these are not recurring revenues and are subject to variability given that they are
dependent upon realization events related to underlying fund investments. Placement fees are also excluded from FRE as they are
inconsistent in amount and frequency depending upon timing of fundraising for our funds. Other items excluded from FRE include realized
principal investment income (loss); and interest, dividend and other income, all of which are not core to the investment management service
business. Unlike DE which is a post-tax measure, FRE does not incorporate the effect of income taxes as it is a pre-tax measure.

To reflect a stabilized investment management business, FRE is further adjusted to exclude Start-Up FRE, where applicable. Start-Up
FRE is FRE associated with new investment strategies that have 1) not yet held a first close raising FEEUM; or 2) not yet achieved break-
even FRE only for investment products that may be terminated solely at the Company’s discretion. The Company evaluates new investment
strategies on a regular basis and excludes Start-Up FRE until such time as a new strategy is determined to form part of the Company’s core
investment management business.

We believe that FRE is a useful measure to investors as it reflects the Company’s profitability based upon recurring fee streams that are
not subject to realization events related to underlying fund investments, and without the effects of income taxes, leverage, non-cash
expenses, income (loss) items that are unrealized and other items that may not be indicative of core operating results in an investment
management service business. This allows for better comparability of the Company's profitability on a recurring and sustainable basis and
relative to its peers.

Distributable Earnings

DE generally represents the net realized earnings of the Company and is an indicative measure used by the Company to assess
ongoing operating performance and in making decisions related to distributions and reinvestments. Accordingly, we believe DE provides
investors and analysts transparency into the measure of performance used by the Company in its decision making.

DE is an after-tax measure that reflects the ongoing operating performance of the Company’s core business by including earnings that
are realized and generally excluding non-cash expenses, other income (loss) items that are unrealized and items that may not be indicative
of core operating results. This allows the Company, and its investors and analysts to assess its operating results on a more comparable basis
period-over-period.
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Realized earnings included in DE are generally comprised of fee revenue, including all incentive fees, realized principal investment
income (loss), distributed carried interest, interest and dividend income. Income (loss) on principal investments is realized when the
Company redeems all or a portion of its investment or when the Company receives or is due income such as dividends, interest or
distributions of income.

The following items are excluded from DE: transaction-related costs; costs associated with strategic corporate actions which are
considered to be non-core; other gain (loss); unrealized principal investment income (loss); non-cash depreciation and amortization expense,
non-cash impairment charges (if any); amortization of deferred financing costs, debt premiums and discounts; our share of unrealized carried
interest allocation, net of associated compensation expense; non-cash equity-based compensation costs; and preferred stock redemption
gain (loss).

Transaction-related costs are incurred in connection with acquisitions and include legal costs post-acquisition and costs of
unconsummated transactions. Costs associated with strategic corporate actions represent non-core items, primarily severance and litigation-
related costs. These costs, along with other gain (loss) amounts, are excluded from DE as they are related to discrete items, are not
considered part of our ongoing operating cost structure, and are not reflective of our core operating performance.

Other items excluded from DE are generally non-cash in nature, including income (loss) items that are unrealized, or otherwise do not
represent current or future cash obligations such as amortization of deferred financing costs and straight-line lease adjustment. These items
are excluded from DE as they do not contribute to the measurement of DE as a net realized earnings measure that is used in decision
making related to distributions and reinvestments.

Income taxes applied in the determination of DE generally represents GAAP income tax related to continued operations, and includes
the benefit of deductions available to the Company on certain expense items excluded from DE (for example, equity-based compensation).
As the income tax benefit arising from these excluded expense items do affect actual income tax paid or payable by the Company in any one
period, the Company believes their inclusion in DE is appropriate to more accurately reflect amounts available for distribution.

The items we have excluded from DE are generally consistent with the exclusions made by our peers, which we believe allows for
better comparability to the DE presented by our peers.

Non-GAAP Results

Results of our non-GAAP measures attributable to the Operating Company were determined as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023 Change

Fee revenue $ 72,791 $ 60,098 $ 12,693 
Cash compensation (36,893) (28,579) (8,314)
Administrative and other expenses (16,335) (17,096) 761 
Start-Up FRE — 915 (915)

Fee-Related Earnings—attributable to Operating Company 19,563 15,338 4,225 
Realized principal investment income 2,301 2,332 (31)
Distributed carried interest and incentive fees subject to realization events, net of expense
allocation 99 — 99 

Interest, dividend and other income 4,375 (94) 4,469 
Interest expense and preferred dividends (19,162) (21,948) 2,786 
Placement fee and other expenses (3,698) (1,045) (2,653)
Income tax benefit (expense) (1,246) (1,098) (148)
Start-up FRE — (915) 915 

Distributable Earnings, after tax—attributable to Operating Company $ 2,232 $ (7,430) 9,662 

________

For purposes of DE, 2023 included distributions from a portfolio company in the former Operating segment.

(1)

(1)    
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Fee-Related Earnings.

FRE increased $4.2 million to $19.6 million, resulting from continued growth in our investment management business as FEEUM
increased 17% from $27.7 billion at March 31, 2023 to $32.5 billion at March 31, 2024. This reflects primarily fee revenue from new capital
raised for DBP III and various co-investment vehicles, and the acquisition of InfraBridge in February 2023. The increase in fee revenue was
partially offset by higher compensation cost, which can be attributed to a full quarter of InfraBridge cash compensation in 2024 and additional
headcount to support our growing investment management business.

Distributable Earnings.

DE was $2.2 million in the first quarter of 2024. In comparison, DE was a negative $7.4 million in the first quarter of 2023, driven by a
$7.1 million reversal of accrued interest income upon write-off of an unsecured promissory note from the 2022 sale of our Wellness
Infrastructure business.

Distributable Earnings and Fee-Related Earnings Reconciliation

Three Months Ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ (44,288) $ (212,473)
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests in Operating Company (3,338) (16,662)
Net income (loss) attributable to Operating Company (47,626) (229,135)
Transaction-related and strategic corporate charges 7,556 18,277 
Other (gain) loss, net 5,894 150,921 
Unrealized principal investment income (468) (3,562)
Unrealized carried interest, net of expense (allocation) reversal 1,044 18,240 
Equity-based compensation 9,214 10,770 
Depreciation and amortization expense 9,167 6,875 
Amortization of deferred financing costs, debt premiums and discounts 664 794 
Adjustments attributable to noncontrolling interests in investment entities 2,667 (7,536)
OP share of (income) loss from discontinued operations 14,120 26,926 

Distributable Earnings, after tax—attributable to Operating Company 2,232 (7,430)
Realized principal investment income (2,301) (2,332)
Distributed carried interest and incentive fees subject to realization events, net of associated expense
allocation (99) — 

Interest, dividend and other income (4,375) 94 
Interest expense and preferred dividends 19,162 21,948 
Placement fee and other expenses 3,698 1,045 
Income tax (benefit) expense 1,246 1,098 
Start-up FRE — 915 

Fee-Related Earnings—attributable to Operating Company $ 19,563 $ 15,338 

__________
Adjustments attributable to noncontrolling interests in investment entities pertain to other gain/loss attributed to limited partners of consolidated funds, management allocation
of unrealized carried interest, and Wafra's share of unrealized carried interest and principal investment income attributed to our general partner interest in certain funds.
OP share of discontinued operations represent primarily operating results of portfolio companies previously consolidated in the former Operating segment in 2023, net of
associated noncontrolling interests in investment entities.
For purposes of DE, 2023 included distributions from a portfolio company in the former Operating segment.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We regularly evaluate our liquidity position, debt obligations, and anticipated cash needs to fund our business and operations based
upon our projected financial performance. Our evaluation of future liquidity requirements is regularly reviewed and updated for changes in
internal projections, economic conditions, competitive landscape and other factors as applicable.

Liquidity Needs and Sources of Liquidity

Our primary liquidity needs are to fund:
• our general partner and general partner affiliate commitments to our investment vehicles;

(1)

(2) (3)

(3)

(1)    

(2)    

(3)    
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• acquisitions of target investment management businesses;
• warehouse investments pending the raising of third party capital for future investment vehicles;
• principal and interest payments on our debt;
• our operations, including compensation, administrative and overhead costs;
• dividends to our preferred and common stockholders;
• our liability for corporate and other taxes; and
• obligation for lease payments on our corporate offices.

Our primary sources of liquidity are:
• cash on hand;
• fees received from our investment management business, including our share of distributed net incentive fees and carried interest;
• cash flow generated from our investments, both from operations and return of capital;
• availability under our Variable Funding Notes ("VFN");
• issuance of additional term notes under our corporate securitization;
• proceeds from full or partial realization of investments; and
• proceeds from public or private equity and debt offerings.

Overview

At March 31, 2024, our liquidity position was approximately $413 million, composed of corporate unrestricted cash and including the full
$300 million availability under our VFN.

We believe we have sufficient cash on hand, and anticipated cash generated from operating activities and external financing sources, to
meet our short term and long term capital requirements.

While we have sufficient liquidity to meet our operational needs, we continue to evaluate alternatives to manage our capital structure
and market opportunities to strengthen our liquidity and to provide further operational and strategic flexibility.

Significant Liquidity and Capital Activities in 2024
• We continue to reduce higher cost corporate indebtedness through full exchange or redemption of the remaining $72.4 million of

5.75% senior notes as of the end of April 2024, which will result in annual interest savings of approximately $4.5 million.
• We settled the remaining $35 million contingent consideration payable to Wafra in connection with the 2022 redemption of their

investment in the Company's investment management business, 50% each in shares of the Company's Class A common stock and in
cash.

Liquidity Needs and Capital Activities

Dividends

Common Stock—The payment of common stock dividends and determination of the amount thereof is at the discretion of our Board of
Directors.

Preferred Stock—We have outstanding preferred stock totaling $822 million, bearing a weighted average dividend rate of 7.135% per
annum, with aggregate dividend payments of $14.7 million per quarter.

Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies

Debt Obligations

As of the date of this filing, our corporate debt is composed of our securitized financing facility, as summarized below. 

($ in thousands) Outstanding Principal
Interest Rate
(Per Annum)

Anticipated Repayment
Date

Years Remaining to
Maturity

Class A-2 Notes $ 300,000 3.93 % September 2026 2.5

50



Table of Contents

Investment Commitments

Fund Commitments—As general partner, we typically have minimum capital commitments to our sponsored funds. With respect to our
flagship value-add DBP fund series, and InfraBridge funds, we have made additional capital commitments as a general partner affiliate
alongside our limited partner investors. Our fund capital investments further align our interests to our investors. As of March 31, 2024, we
have unfunded commitments totaling $259.8 million to our sponsored funds. Generally, the timing for funding of these commitments is not
known and the commitments are callable on demand at any time prior to their respective expirations.

Contingent Consideration

InfraBridge Acquisition—In connection with the InfraBridge acquisition in February 2023, contingent consideration of up to $129 million
may become payable based upon achievement of future fundraising targets for the third and fourth flagship InfraBridge funds. The current
estimated fair value of the contingent consideration is $11.3 million.

Warehoused Investments

We temporarily warehouse investments on behalf of prospective sponsored investment vehicles that are actively fundraising. The
warehoused investments are transferred to the investment vehicle if and when sufficient third party capital, including debt, is raised.
Generally, the timing of future warehousing activities is not known. Nevertheless, investment warehousing is undertaken only if it is
determined that we will have sufficient liquidity through the anticipated warehousing period.

At March 31, 2024, warehoused investments aggregate to $51 million at cost.

Carried Interest Clawback

Depending on the final realized value of all investments at the end of the life of a fund (and, with respect to certain funds, periodically
during the life of the fund), if it is determined that cumulative carried interest distributions have exceeded the final carried interest amount
earned (or amount earned as of the calculation date), we are obligated to return the excess carried interest received. Therefore, carried
interest distributions may be subject to clawback if decline in investment values results in cumulative performance of the fund falling below
minimum return hurdles in the interim period. If it is determined that the Company has a clawback obligation, a liability would be established
based upon a hypothetical liquidation of the net assets of the fund at reporting date. The actual determination and required payment of any
clawback obligation would generally occur after final disposition of the investments of the fund or otherwise as set forth in the governing
documents of the fund.

If the related carried interest distributions received by the Company are subject to clawback, the previously distributed carried interest
would be similarly subject to clawback. The Company withholds a portion of the distribution of carried interest to employees to satisfy their
potential clawback obligation.

Generally, the Company, through the OP, has guaranteed the clawback obligation of its subsidiaries that act as general partner or
special limited partner of its respective sponsored funds, for the benefit of these funds and their limited partners.

At March 31, 2024, the Company has no liability for clawback obligations on distributed carried interest.

Lease Obligations

At March 31, 2024, we had $46 million of operating lease obligations on our corporate offices, which will be funded through corporate
operating cash. The lease obligation amount represents fixed lease payments, excluding any contingent or other variable lease payments,
and factor in lease renewal or termination options only if it is reasonably certain that such options would be exercised.

Sources of Liquidity

Debt Funding

As of the date of this filing, we have $300 million of outstanding principal on our corporate debt, as discussed above under "—Debt
Obligation."

Our securitized financing facility is subject to various covenants, including financial covenants that require the maintenance of minimum
thresholds for debt service coverage ratio and maximum loan-to-value ratio, as defined. As of the date of this filing, we are in compliance with
all of the financial covenants, and the full $300 million is available to be drawn on our VFN.
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Our securitized financing facility allows for the issuance of additional term notes in the future to supplement our liquidity. The decision to
enter into a particular financing arrangement is made after consideration of various factors including future cash needs, current sources of
liquidity, demand for the Company’s debt or equity, and prevailing interest rates.

Cash From Operations

Fee-Related Earnings—We generate FRE from our investment management business, generally encompassing recurring fee revenue
net of associated compensation and administrative expenses. Management fee revenue is generally a predictable and stable revenue
stream. Our ability to generate new management fee streams through establishing new investment vehicles and raising investor capital
depends on general market conditions and availability of attractive investment opportunities as well as availability of debt capital.

Incentive Fees—Incentive fees, net of employee allocations, are earned based upon the financial performance of a vehicle above a
specified return threshold, which is largely driven by appreciation in value of underlying investments. Incentive fees are recognized as fee
revenue when they are no longer probable of significant reversal. As investment fair values and changes thereof could be affected by various
factors, including market and economic conditions, incentive fees are by nature less predictable in amount and timing.

Carried Interest Distributions—Carried interest is distributed generally upon profitable disposition of an investment if at the time of
distribution, cumulative returns of the fund exceed minimum return hurdles. Carried interest distributions are recognized in earnings net of
clawback obligations, if any. The amount and timing of carried interest distributions received may vary substantially from period to period
depending upon the occurrence and size of investments realized by our sponsored funds.

Investments—Our investments, primarily in our sponsored funds as general partner affiliate, generate cash largely through capital
appreciation upon liquidation, and interest income from our credit fund.

Asset Monetization

We intend to monetize and recycle capital from our non-core investments through opportunistic asset sales. At March 31, 2024, we
have $32 million of marketable equity securities that are available for future monetization.

Public Offerings

We may offer and sell various types of securities from time to time at our discretion based upon our needs and depending upon market
conditions and available pricing.

Consolidated Cash Flows

The following table summarizes the activities from our consolidated statements of cash flows, including discontinued operations.

Three Months Ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2024 2023

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash—beginning of period $ 350,250 $ 1,036,739 
Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities (27,009) 19,734 
Investing activities (21,968) (259,109)
Financing activities (48,471) 26,786 

Effect of exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (661) 64 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash—end of period $ 252,141 $ 824,214 

Operating Activities

Cash inflows from operating activities are generated primarily through fee-related earnings, including incentive fees, distributions of our
share of net carried interest, distribution of earnings from our general partner affiliate interests in our sponsored funds, and prior to
deconsolidation of the portfolio companies in the former Operating segment during 2023, net operating income from investment properties.

Our operating activities generated net cash outflows of $27.0 million in 2024 and inflows of $19.7 million in 2023. 2023 cash inflows
were driven largely by the operating activities of portfolio companies in the former Operating segment.
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Investing Activities

Investing activities relate to general partner and general partner affiliate investments in sponsored funds, including subsequent
drawdown of commitments and return of investments, primarily from realized fund investments; origination or acquisition of warehoused
investments and subsequent repayments, sales and transfers of warehoused investments; business combinations; and prior to
deconsolidation of portfolio companies in the Operating segment in 2023, acquisition of real estate.

Our investing activities generated net cash outflows of $22.0 million in 2024 and $259.1 million in 2023.

• Equity investments—Equity investments generated net cash outflow in 2024 and inflows in 2023.

In 2024, equity investments recorded net cash outflows of $19.7 million, attributed primarily to net fundings of our general partner and
general partner affiliate commitments in our sponsored funds, partially offset by proceeds from investing activities of our consolidated
liquid funds which hold marketable equity securities.

2023 saw net cash inflows of $219.5 million, largely representing the $201.6 million from the sale of BRSP shares, return of capital
from a non-digital equity investment following a final sale of its underlying assets, and investing activities of our consolidated liquid
funds which hold marketable equity securities, partially offset by funding of our general partner and general partner affiliate
commitments, net of return of capital.

• Business combination—In 2023, we paid $313.2 million (net of cash assumed) for the acquisition of InfraBridge.

• Real estate investments—Real estate investing activities generated net cash outflows of $163.2 million in 2023, attributable to capital
expenditures in the data center portfolio of our former Operating segment. There were no real estate investing activities in 2024.

Financing Activities

We may draw upon our securitized financing facility to finance our operating activities, as well as have the ability to raise capital in the
public markets through issuances of preferred stock, common stock and private placement notes. Accordingly, we incur cash outlays
primarily for payments on our corporate debt, and dividends to our preferred stockholders and common stockholders. Separately, prior to
deconsolidation in 2023, portfolio companies in the former Operating segment financed their investing activities largely through investment-
level secured debt and incurred cash outlays for debt servicing and distributions to their third party investors who represent noncontrolling
interests.

Financing activities generated net cash outflows in 2024 and inflows in 2023.

• In 2024, net cash outflows of $48.5 million represent cash settlement of the Wafra contingent consideration of $17.5 million, $14.0
million of investor capital redeemed by our consolidated liquid funds, net of contribution, and $16.3 million payment of our preferred
and common stock dividends. This was partially offset by a $6.1 million syndication of our interest in a consolidated fund and Wafra's
share of our general partner funding of commitments in DBP I.

• Net cash inflows of $26.8 million in 2023 were driven by additional investment-level debt in the former Operating segment, largely
offset by $90 million settlement of Wafra contingent consideration.

Guarantees and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no guarantees or off-balance sheet arrangements that we believe are reasonable likely to have a material effect on our
financial condition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP, which requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that involve the exercise of judgment and that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Our critical accounting policies and estimates are integral to understanding and evaluating our reported financial results as they require
subjective or complex management judgments, resulting from the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain and unpredictable.

There have been no changes to our critical accounting policies or those of our unconsolidated joint ventures since the filing of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

With respect to all critical estimates, we have established policies and control procedures which seek to ensure that estimates and
assumptions are appropriately governed and applied consistently from period to period. We believe that all
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of the decisions and assessments applied were reasonable at the time made, based upon information available to us at that time. Due to the
inherently judgmental nature of the various projections and assumptions used, and unpredictability of economic and market conditions, actual
results may differ from estimates, and changes in estimates and assumptions could have a material effect on our financial statements in the
future.

Recent Accounting Updates

The effects of accounting standards adopted in 2024 and the potential effects of accounting standards to be adopted in the future are
described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of financial loss from adverse movement in market prices. The primary sources of market risk are interest
rates, foreign currency rates, equity prices and commodity prices.

Our business is exposed primarily to the effect of market risk on our fee revenue and net carried interest allocation, foreign currency risk
on non-U.S. investment management business and foreign denominated warehoused investments (if any), interest rate risk on our VFN and
other variable rate debt financing warehoused investments (if any), and, equity price risk on marketable equity securities of consolidated
investment vehicles.

Market Risk Effect on Fee Revenue and Net Carried Interest Allocation

Management Fees—To the extent management fees are based upon fair value of the underlying investments of our managed
investment vehicles, an increase or decrease in fair value will directly affect our management fee revenue. Generally, our management fee
revenue is calculated based upon investors' committed capital during the commitment period of the vehicle, and thereafter, contributed or
invested capital during the investing and liquidating periods, or invested capital from inception for Credit and co-investment vehicles. To a
lesser extent, management fees are based upon the NAV of vehicles in our Liquid Strategies or GAV for certain InfraBridge vehicles,
measured at fair value. At March 31, 2024, vehicles with NAV or GAV fee basis make up 5% of our $33 billion FEEUM. Accordingly, most of
our management fee revenue will not be directly affected by changes in investment fair values.

Principal Investment Income (Loss)—This is our share of income (loss) from equity interests in our sponsored funds, which in turn is
largely driven by fair value changes in the underlying investments of the funds.

A hypothetical 10% decline in the fair value of fund investments at March 31, 2024 would decrease the OP's share of principal
investment income by approximately $107 million.

Incentive Fees and Carried Interest—Incentive fees and carried interest, net of management allocations, are earned based upon the
financial performance of a vehicle above a specified return threshold, which is largely driven by appreciation in value of underlying
investments. The amount of carried interest allocation recognized is based upon the cumulative performance of the fund if it were liquidated
as of the reporting date. Carried interest is subject to reversal until such time it is distributed. The extent of the effect of fair value changes to
the amount of incentive fees and carried interest earned will depend upon the cumulative performance of an investment vehicle relative to its
return threshold, the performance measurement period used to calculate incentives and carried interest, and the stage of the vehicle's
lifecycle.

A hypothetical 10% decline in the fair value of fund investments at March 31, 2024 would decrease carried interest by approximately
$71 million, representing OP share of carried interest net of allocations to employees, former employees and Wafra. In the same scenario,
generally no incentive fees would be realized.

Foreign Currency Risk

As of March 31, 2024, we have limited direct foreign currency exposure from our foreign operations and foreign currency denominated
investments warehoused on the balance sheet for future sponsored vehicles. Changes in foreign currency rates can adversely affect
earnings and the value of our foreign currency denominated investments, including investments in our foreign subsidiaries.

We have exposure to foreign currency risk from the operations of our foreign subsidiaries to the extent these subsidiaries do not
transact in U.S. dollars. Generally, this is limited to our recently acquired InfraBridge advisor subsidiary which receives fee revenue
predominantly in U.S. dollars but incur operating costs in Pound Sterling ("GBP").

We may have foreign currency denominated investments held by our U.S. subsidiaries that are temporarily warehoused on the balance
sheet. At March 31, 2024, our foreign currency exposure is limited to only one AUD equity investment (cost of investment at AUD 35 million).
Based upon book value of the investment (which is lower than cost), a hypothetical 100 basis point decline in the AUD/USD rate at March 31,
2024 would have an immaterial effect on earnings.
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Interest Rate Risk

Instruments bearing variable interest rates include debt obligations, which are subject to interest rate fluctuations that will affect future
cash flows, specifically interest expense.

Our corporate debt exposure to variable interest rates is limited to our VFN revolver, which had no outstanding amount as of March 31,
2024.

Equity Price Risk

At March 31, 2024, we had $105 million of long positions and $44 million of short positions in marketable equity securities, held
predominantly by our consolidated sponsored liquid funds. Realized and unrealized gains and losses from marketable equity securities are
recorded in other gain (loss) on the consolidated statement of operations. Market prices for publicly traded equity securities may fluctuate
due to a myriad of factors, including but not limited to, financial performance of the investee, industry conditions, economic and political
environment, trade volume, and general sentiments in the equity markets. Therefore the level of volatility and price fluctuations are
unpredictable. Our funds constantly rebalance their investment portfolio to take advantage of market opportunities and to manage risk.
Additionally, one of our funds employs a long/short equity strategy, taking long positions that serve as collateral for short positions, which in
combination, reduces its market risk exposure. The effect of equity price decreases to earnings attributable to our stockholders is further
reduced as our consolidated liquid funds are largely owned by third party capital, which represent noncontrolling interests.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time period specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely
decisions regarding disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchange Act, we have evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures.
Based upon our evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective at March 31, 2024.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange
Act) during the quarter ended March 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings.

The Company may be involved in litigation and claims in the ordinary course of business. As of March 31, 2024, the Company was not
involved in any material legal proceedings.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

There have been no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in response to "Part I—Item 1A. Risk Factors" of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, which is available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

Item 2.     Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Shares of class A common stock, as described below, were issued in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended.

Redemption of Membership Units in OP ("OP Units")

Holders of OP Units have the right to require the OP to redeem all or a portion of their OP units for cash or, at our option, shares of our
class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. In the first quarter of 2024, in satisfaction of redemption request by a former employee OP
Unit holder, 85,000 shares of our class A common stock were issued to the former employee.

Settlement of Wafra Contingent Consideration

In March 2024, 1,020,409 shares of class A common stock were issued to Wafra in settlement of a contingent consideration payable to
Wafra in connection with the 2022 redemption of their equity interest in our investment management business.

Item 3.     Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

During the quarter ended March 31, 2024, none of the Company’s directors or executive officers adopted or terminated any contract,
instruction or written plan for the purchase or sale of Company securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of
Rule 10b5-1(c) or any “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement.”

Designation of Principal Accounting Officer

On May 3, 2024, Tracey Teh was designated as the Company’s Principal Accounting Officer. Following Ms. Teh’s appointment, Thomas
Mayrhofer, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, will no longer serve as the Company’s Principal Accounting Officer but will
continue to serve as the Company’s Principal Financial Officer. Ms. Teh, age 48, has served as the Company's Chief Accounting Officer
since September 2023, reporting to the Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer, and previously served as Managing Director,
Corporate Reporting. Ms. Teh has played an active role in the evolution of the Company, including involvement in acquisitions, mergers, spin-
off, and continuing business transformation. Ms. Teh joined the Company from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in 2015, where she was a
Senior Manager in the Assurance practice in Los Angeles, Washington D.C. and Singapore, focusing on mortgage banking and alternative
investment management. Ms. Teh is a Certified Public Accountant in California and has a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University
of Sydney in Australia.

There are no arrangements or understandings between Ms. Teh and any other person pursuant to which she was selected as an officer,
no family relationships between Ms. Teh and any other executive officer or director, and no related person transactions within the meaning of
Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K between Ms. Teh and the Company.
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Item 6. Exhibits.

EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number Description

3.1 Restated Charter of DigitalBridge Group, Inc.(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August
4, 2023)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of DigitalBridge Group, Inc., effective August 1, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 4, 2023)

3.3 Articles Supplementary designating 7.15% Series I Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, liquidation preference $25.00 per share, par
value $0.01 per share (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 8-A filed on June 5, 2017)

3.4 Articles Supplementary designating 7.125% Series J Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Stock, liquidation preference $25.00 per share, par
value $0.01 per share (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Colony NorthStar, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on September 22,
2017)

10.1†* Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 2024 Omnibus Incentive Plan
10.2†* Form of Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2024 Omnibus Incentive Plan
10.3† DigitalBridge Group, Inc. 2024 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on

Form S-8, filed on April 29, 2024)
10.4† Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on March 21, 2024)
10.5† Form of Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 21, 2024)
31.1* Certification of Marc C. Ganzi, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002
31.2* Certification of Thomas Mayrhofer, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002
32.1* Certification of Marc C. Ganzi, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002
32.2* Certification of Thomas Mayrhofer, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS** XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
104** Cover Page Interactive Data File

__________
†      Denotes a management contract or compensatory plan contract or arrangement.
* Filed herewith.
** The document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: May 3, 2024

DigitalBridge Group, Inc.

By:  /s/ Marc C. Ganzi
 Marc C. Ganzi

 
Chief Executive Officer 

 (Principal Executive Officer)

By:  /s/ Thomas Mayrhofer
 Thomas Mayrhofer

 
Chief Financial Officer 

 (Principal Financial Officer)

By:  /s/ Tracey Teh
 Tracey Teh

 
Chief Accounting Officer

 (Principal Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 10.1

DIGITALBRIDGE GROUP, INC.
2024 OMNIBUS STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

DigitalBridge Group, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), through a web-based grant system supported by Bank of
America Merrill Lynch, has granted (the “Grant”) shares of its Class A Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share (the “Stock”) to you as
Grantee, subject to the vesting and other conditions as set forth in the Grant. Additional terms and conditions of the Grant are set forth in the
online acceptance form and this Restricted Stock Agreement (collectively, the “Agreement”) and in the DigitalBridge Group, Inc. 2024
Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Plan”). This is not a stock certificate or a negotiable instrument.

Restricted Stock This Agreement evidences an award of shares of Stock in the number set forth on the online
acceptance form accompanying this Agreement and subject to the vesting and other conditions set
forth herein, in the Plan, and in the online acceptance form accompanying this Agreement (the
“Restricted Stock”). The purchase price is deemed paid by your prior Service to the Company.
 

Transfer of Unvested
Restricted Stock

Unvested Restricted Stock may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, hypothecated, or
otherwise encumbered, whether by operation of law or otherwise, nor may the Restricted Stock be
made subject to execution, attachment, or similar process. If you attempt to do any of these things,
you will immediately forfeit the Restricted Stock.
 

Issuance and Vesting
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Change in Control
 
 
 
      

The Company will issue the Restricted Stock in the name set forth on the online acceptance form
accompanying this Agreement.
 
Your rights to the Restricted Stock under this Agreement shall vest in accordance with the vesting
schedule set forth on the online acceptance form accompanying this Agreement, so long as you
continue in Service on each applicable vesting date set forth on the online acceptance form
accompanying this Agreement; provided, however, that for purposes of vesting, fractional numbers
of shares of Stock shall be rounded down to the next nearest whole number.
 
Notwithstanding the vesting schedule set forth on the online acceptance form accompanying this
Agreement, the Restricted Stock will become one hundred percent (100%) vested upon termination
of your Service due to your death or Disability.
 
Notwithstanding the vesting schedule set forth on the online acceptance form accompanying this
Agreement, upon the consummation of a Change in Control, the Restricted Stock will become one
hundred percent (100%) vested (i) if the Restricted Stock is not assumed, or equivalent restricted
securities are not substituted for the Restricted Stock, by the Company or its successor, or (ii) if
assumed or substituted for, upon your Involuntary Termination within the twenty-four (24)-month
period following the consummation of the Change in Control.



Evidence of Issuance The issuance of the shares of Stock under the Grant of Restricted Stock evidenced by this Agreement
shall be evidenced in such a manner as the Company, in its discretion, deems appropriate, including,
without limitation, book-entry, direct registration, or issuance of one or more share certificates, with
any unvested Restricted Stock bearing the appropriate restrictions imposed by this Agreement. As
your interest in the Restricted Stock vests, the recordation of the number of shares of Restricted Stock
attributable to you will be appropriately modified if necessary.

 Forfeiture of Unvested
Restricted Stock

Unless the termination of your Service triggers accelerated vesting of your Restricted Stock or other
treatment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the Plan, or any other written agreement between
an Applicable Entity and you, you will automatically forfeit to the Company all of the unvested
Restricted Stock in the event you are no longer providing Service.

 Forfeiture of Rights If you should take actions in material violation or material breach of or in material conflict with any
(a) Services Agreement, (b) secondment agreement, (c) Company policy or procedure, (d) other
agreement, or (e) any other obligation to any Applicable Entity, the Company has the right to cause
an immediate forfeiture of your rights to the Restricted Stock under this Agreement, and you will
immediately forfeit the Restricted Stock to the Company.
 
In addition, if you have vested in Restricted Stock during the two (2)-year period prior to your
actions, you will owe the Company a cash payment (or forfeiture of shares of Stock) in an amount
determined as follows: (1) for any shares of Stock that you have sold prior to receiving notice from
the Company, the amount will be the proceeds received from the sale(s), and (2) for any shares of
Stock that you still own, the amount will be the number of shares of Stock owned times the Fair
Market Value of the shares of Stock on the date you receive notice from the Company (provided,
that the Company may require you to satisfy your payment obligations hereunder either by forfeiting
and returning to the Company the Restricted Stock or any other shares of Stock or making a cash
payment or a combination of these methods as determined by the Company in its sole discretion).
 

Leaves of Absence For purposes of this Agreement, your Service does not terminate when you go on a bona fide leave
of absence that was approved by your employer in writing if the terms of the leave provide for
continued Service crediting, or when continued Service crediting is required by applicable law. Your
Service terminates in any event when the approved leave ends unless you immediately return to
active employee work.
 
Your employer may determine, in its discretion, which leaves count for this purpose, and when your
Service terminates for all purposes under the Plan in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may determine, in its discretion, that a leave counts for
this purpose even if your employer does not agree.



Section 83(b) Election Under Section 83 of the Code, the difference between the purchase price paid for the shares of Stock
and their Fair Market Value on the date any forfeiture restrictions applicable to such shares lapse
will be reportable as ordinary income at that time. For this purpose, “forfeiture restrictions” include
the forfeiture as to unvested Restricted Stock described above. You may elect to be taxed at the time
the Restricted Stock is granted, rather than when such shares cease to be subject to such forfeiture
restrictions, by filing an election under Section 83(b) of the Code with the Internal Revenue Service
within thirty (30) days after the Grant Date on the online acceptance form accompanying this
Agreement. If you are eligible to file an election and elect to do so, you will have to make a tax
payment to the extent the purchase price is less than the Fair Market Value of the shares on the Grant
Date. No tax payment will have to be made to the extent the purchase price is at least equal to the
Fair Market Value of the shares on the Grant Date. Failure to make this filing within the applicable
thirty (30)-day period will result in the recognition of ordinary income by you (in the event the Fair
Market Value of the shares as of the vesting date exceeds the purchase price) as the forfeiture
restrictions lapse.
 
YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT IT IS YOUR SOLE RESPONSIBILITY, AND NOT THE
COMPANY’S, TO FILE A TIMELY ELECTION UNDER CODE SECTION 83(b), EVEN IF
YOU REQUEST THE COMPANY OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES TO MAKE THIS FILING
ON YOUR BEHALF. YOU ARE RELYING SOLELY ON YOUR OWN ADVISORS WITH
RESPECT TO THE DECISION AS TO WHETHER OR NOT TO FILE ANY CODE
SECTION 83(b) ELECTION.
 
To obtain a Section 83(b) election form and/or procedures for making the election, please contact
UpperTier@digitalbridge.com.
 

Withholding Taxes You agree as a condition of this Grant that you will make acceptable arrangements to pay any
withholding or other taxes that may be due as a result of the payment of dividends or the vesting of
shares of Stock acquired under this Grant. In the event that any Applicable Entity determines that
any federal, state, local, or foreign tax or withholding payment is required relating to the payment of
dividends or the vesting of shares of Stock arising from this Grant, the Applicable Entity shall have
the right to require such payments from you, or withhold such amounts from other payments due to
you from the Applicable Entity (including withholding the delivery of vested shares of Stock
otherwise deliverable under this Agreement).
 

Retention Rights This Agreement and the Grant evidenced hereby do not give you the right to be retained by any
Applicable Entity in any capacity. Unless otherwise specified in an employment or other written
agreement between the Applicable Entity and you, the Applicable Entity reserves the right to
terminate your Service at any time and for any reason.



Stockholder Rights You will be entitled to vote such shares of Restricted Stock and to receive, upon the Company’s
payment of a cash dividend on outstanding shares of Stock, a cash amount equal to the per-share
dividend paid on the Restricted Stock, in either case, that you hold as of the applicable record date.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, you shall not be entitled to vote or receive any cash dividend on the
Restricted Stock you hold if the record date for such cash dividend is on or prior to the date on
which your share certificate is issued (or an appropriate entry is made).
 
Your Grant shall be subject to the terms of any applicable transaction agreement in the event the
Company is subject to any merger, reorganization, consolidation, liquidation or other corporate
activity.
 

Legends If and to the extent that the Restricted Stock is represented by share certificates rather than book
entry, all share certificates representing the Stock issued under this Grant shall, where applicable,
have endorsed thereon the following legends:
 
“THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN
VESTING, FORFEITURE, AND OTHER RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER SET FORTH IN AN
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND THE REGISTERED HOLDER, OR HIS OR
HER PREDECESSOR IN INTEREST. A COPY OF SUCH AGREEMENT IS ON FILE AT THE
PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF THE COMPANY AND WILL BE FURNISHED UPON WRITTEN
REQUEST TO THE SECRETARY OF THE COMPANY BY THE HOLDER OF RECORD OF
THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE.”
 
To the extent the Stock is represented by a book entry, such book entry will contain an appropriate
legend or restriction similar to the foregoing.
 

Clawback This Grant is subject to mandatory repayment by you to the Company to the extent you are or in the
future become subject to any Company “clawback” or recoupment policy or any other Board-
approved clawback policy that requires the repayment by you to the Company of compensation paid
by the Company to you in the event that you fail to comply with, or violate, the terms or
requirements of such policy.
 
If the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance
of the Company, as a result of misconduct, with any financial reporting requirement under the
securities laws and you knowingly engaged in the misconduct, were grossly negligent in engaging in
the misconduct, knowingly failed to prevent the misconduct or were grossly negligent in failing to
prevent the misconduct, you shall reimburse the Company the amount of any payment in settlement
of this Grant earned or accrued during the twelve (12)-month period following the first public
issuance or filing with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (whichever first
occurred) of the financial document that contained information affected by such material
noncompliance.



Applicable Law This Agreement will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State of New York, other than
any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle that might otherwise refer construction or
interpretation of this Agreement to the substantive law of another jurisdiction.

 
The Plan The text of the Plan is incorporated into this Agreement by reference.

 
Certain capitalized terms used in this Agreement are defined in the Plan and have the meaning
set forth in the Plan.
 
This Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between you and the Company
regarding this Grant. Any prior agreements, commitments, or negotiations concerning this Grant are
superseded; except that any written employment, consulting, confidentiality, non-competition, non-
solicitation, and/or severance agreement between you and any Applicable Entity (each a “Services
Agreement”) shall supersede this Agreement with respect to its subject matter.
 

Data Privacy In order to administer the Plan, an Applicable Entity may process personal data about you. Such data
includes, but is not limited to, information provided in this Agreement and any changes thereto,
other appropriate personal and financial data about you, such as your contact information, payroll
information, and any other information that might be deemed appropriate by the Applicable Entity
to facilitate the administration of the Plan.
 
By accepting this Grant, you give explicit consent to any Applicable Entity to process any such
personal data.
 

Code Section 409A
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Grant of Restricted Stock under this Agreement is intended to be exempt from, or to comply
with, Code Section 409A to the extent subject thereto, and, accordingly, to the maximum extent
permitted, this Agreement will be interpreted and administered to be in compliance with Code
Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this Agreement, neither an
Applicable Entity nor the Administrator will have any obligation to take any action to prevent the
assessment of any excise tax or penalty on you under Code Section 409A, and neither an Applicable
Entity nor the Administrator will have any liability to you for such tax or penalty.



Certain Definitions For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall be defined as set forth below:
 
“Affiliate” means, with respect to the Company, any company or other trade or business that
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the Company within the meaning of Rule
405 of Regulation C under the Securities Act, including, without limitation, any Subsidiary.
 
“Applicable Entity” means the Company and its Affiliates.
 
“Cause” means, unless otherwise provided in a Services Agreement, with respect to any Grantee, as
determined by the Company, (a) repeated violations by such Grantee of such Grantee’s obligations
to the Applicable Entity (other than as a result of incapacity due to physical or mental illness) which
are demonstrably willful and deliberate on such Grantee’s part, which are committed in bad faith or
without reasonable belief that such violations are in the best interests of the Applicable Entity, and
which are not remedied within a reasonable period of time after such Grantee’s receipt of written
notice from the Applicable Entity specifying such violations; (b) the conviction of such Grantee of a
felony involving an act of dishonesty intended to result in substantial personal enrichment of such
Grantee at the expense of the Applicable Entity; or (c) prior to a Change in Control, such other
events as shall be determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion. Any determination by the
Administrator whether an event constituting Cause shall have occurred shall be final, binding, and
conclusive.
 
“Disability” means, unless otherwise provided in a Services Agreement, the Grantee is unable to
perform each of the essential duties of such Grantee’s position by reason of a medically
determinable physical or mental impairment which is potentially permanent in character or which
can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months; provided,
however, that, with respect to rules regarding expiration of an Incentive Stock Option following
termination of the Grantee’s Service, Disability shall mean the Grantee is unable to engage in any
substantial gainful activity by reason of a medically determinable physical or mental impairment
which can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a
continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months.
 



“Involuntary Termination” means termination of your service by reason of (i) your involuntary
dismissal by an Applicable Entity for reasons other than Cause; or (ii) your voluntary resignation for
Good Reason as defined in any applicable employment or severance agreement, plan, or
arrangement between you and an Applicable Entity, or if none, then your voluntary resignation
following (x) a substantial adverse alteration in your title or responsibilities from those in effect
immediately prior to the Change in Control; (y) a reduction in your annual base salary as of
immediately prior to the Change in Control (or as the same may be increased from time to time) or a
material reduction in your annual target bonus opportunity as of immediately prior to the Change in
Control; or (z) the relocation of your principal place of employment to a location more than thirty-
five (35) miles from your principal place of employment as of the Change in Control or an
Applicable Entity requiring you to be based anywhere other than such principal place of
employment (or permitted relocation thereof) except for required travel on the Applicable Entity’s
business to an extent substantially consistent with your business travel obligations as of immediately
prior to the Change in Control. To qualify as an “Involuntary Termination,” you must provide notice
to the Applicable Entity of any of the foregoing occurrences within ninety (90) days of the initial
occurrence, and the Applicable Entity shall have thirty (30) days to remedy such occurrence.
 
“Service” means service as a Service Provider to any Applicable Entity. Unless otherwise stated in
the applicable Award Agreement, a Grantee’s change in position or duties shall not result in
interrupted or terminated Service, so long as such Grantee continues to be a Service Provider to any
Applicable Entity. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, for any individual providing
services solely as a director, only service to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries constitutes
Service. If the Service Provider’s employment or other service relationship is with an Affiliate of the
Company and that entity ceases to be an Affiliate of the Company, a termination of Service shall be
deemed to have occurred when the entity ceases to be an Affiliate of the Company unless otherwise
determined by the Administrator or the Service Provider transfers his or her employment or other
service relationship to the Company or its remaining Affiliates.
 
“Service Provider” means an officer, director (including a Non-Employee Director), employee, co-
employee, consultant or advisor providing services to an Applicable Entity.

By accepting and not rejecting this Agreement, you agree to all of the terms and conditions described above and in the Plan.



Notice of Restricted Stock Award of DigitalBridge Group, Inc.

Company Name DigitalBridge Group, Inc.
Plan DigitalBridge Group, Inc. 2024 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan
Participant ID /$OptioneeID$/
Participant Name /$ParticipantName$/
Participant Address /$ParticipantAddress$/
Grant/Award Type Restricted Stock Award
Grant Share Price

Share Amount

$XX.XX

/$AwardsGranted$/

Grant Date [__], 20XX
Vesting Schedule

/$VestingSchedule$/

    



Exhibit 10.2

DIGITALBRIDGE GROUP, INC.
2024 OMNIBUS STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

PERFORMANCE RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

DigitalBridge Group, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), through a web-based grant system supported by Bank of
America Merrill Lynch, has granted (the “Grant”) Restricted Stock Units relating to shares of its Class A Common Stock, $0.01 par value
per share (the “Stock”) to you as Grantee, subject to the vesting and other conditions as set forth in the Grant (the “PSUs”). Additional terms
and conditions of the Grant are set forth in the online acceptance form and this Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (collectively,
the “Agreement”) and in the DigitalBridge Group, Inc. 2024 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Plan”).
Each PSU is hereby granted in tandem with a corresponding Dividend Equivalent Right, as further described below. This is not a stock
certificate or a negotiable instrument.

PSUs This Agreement evidences an award of PSUs in the number set forth on the online acceptance form
accompanying this Agreement, together with an equivalent number of tandem Dividend Equivalent
Rights and subject to the vesting and other conditions set forth herein, in the Plan, and in the online
acceptance form accompanying this Agreement. 

Transfer of Unvested
PSUs

Unvested PSUs may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, hypothecated, or otherwise
encumbered, whether by operation of law or otherwise, nor may the PSUs be made subject to
execution, attachment, or similar process. If you attempt to do any of these things, you will
immediately forfeit the PSUs.

 
Vesting Your rights to the PSUs under this Agreement shall vest in accordance with the vesting conditions

set forth in Exhibit A and the online acceptance form accompanying this Agreement so long as you
continue in Service through the Third Anniversary Date, subject to the below.
 
In the event that you experience a termination of your Service for any reason prior to the Third
Anniversary Date, except as provided below or in this Agreement, all PSUs granted pursuant to this
Agreement shall immediately and automatically be forfeited to the Company. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if (a) your Service terminates (i) prior to the First Anniversary Date for a reason other
than Cause, or (ii) at any time prior to the Third Anniversary Date for Cause, none of your Target
Number of PSUs shall remain outstanding and, except to the extent provided below with respect to
death or Disability or a Change in Control, all of your Target Number of PSUs shall thereupon
automatically be forfeited without payment of any consideration thereof, (b) your Service
terminates on or after the First Anniversary Date but prior to the Second Anniversary Date for a
reason other than Cause, the number of PSUs equal to one-third (1/3) of your Target Number of
PSUs shall remain outstanding, and, except to the extent provided below with respect to death or
Disability or a Change in Control, the remainder of your Target Number of PSUs shall thereupon
automatically be forfeited without payment of any consideration therefor, (c) if your Service
terminates on or after the Second Anniversary Date but prior to the



Third Anniversary Date for a reason other than Cause, the number of PSUs equal to two-thirds (2/3)
of your Target Number of PSUs shall remain outstanding, and, except to the extent provided below
with respect to death or Disability or a Change in Control, the remainder of your Target Number of
PSUs shall thereupon automatically be forfeited without payment of any consideration therefor, and
(d) you continue in Service on the Third Anniversary Date, all of your Target Number of PSUs shall
remain outstanding. The reduced number of PSUs that remain outstanding on your termination of
Service in accordance with this paragraph shall replace your Target Number of PSUs and shall be
eligible to vest subject to achievement of the Performance Goals.
 
For any PSUs that are forfeited in accordance with the foregoing, you will also automatically forfeit
to the Company any Dividend Equivalent Right associated with such forfeited PSU.
 
The foregoing is subject to any express provisions provided in this Agreement, the Plan, or a
Services Agreement. To the extent a Services Agreement provides for vesting of the PSUs under this
Agreement in connection with a termination of your Service or in the event of a Change in Control
(and except as otherwise expressly provided in such Services Agreement), the Target Number of
PSUs shall remain outstanding and shall be eligible to vest subject to achievement of the
Performance Goals.
 

Death or Disability Notwithstanding the foregoing, if your Service terminates prior to the Third Anniversary Date on
account of your death or Disability, an additional number of PSUs equal to a pro-rata percentage of
one-third (1/3) of your Target Number of PSUs, calculated based on the percentage of the calendar
year that elapsed from the beginning of such calendar year through the date of your death or
Disability, shall remain outstanding in respect of the calendar year in which the termination of your
Service due to death or Disability occurs. The additional pro-rata number of PSUs so determined
shall be added to the number determined on account of your termination other than for Cause, and
this total instead shall remain outstanding, shall replace your Target Number of PSUs, and shall be
eligible to vest subject to achievement of the Performance Goals. The remainder of your Target
Number of PSUs shall thereupon automatically be forfeited without payment of any consideration
therefor.
 

Change in Control If (i) the Company consummates a Change in Control prior to the Cycle End Date and (ii) the
Company or a successor entity does not assume the PSUs or substitute equivalent restricted
securities for the PSUs in connection with such Change in Control, your outstanding PSUs (which
shall not be reduced in accordance with the “Vesting” terms of this Agreement in the event you
experience an Involuntary Termination at any time within the three-month period prior to such
Change in Control) will vest as of immediately prior to such Change in Control at the Change in
Control Value.



 If (i) the Company consummates a Change in Control prior to the Cycle End Date, (ii) the
Company or a successor entity assumes the PSUs or substitutes equivalent restricted securities for
the PSUs in connection with such Change in Control and (iii) you experience an Involuntary
Termination in the period commencing three (3) months prior to such Change in Control and ending
twenty-four (24) months following such Change in Control, your outstanding PSUs (which shall not
be reduced in accordance with the “Vesting” terms of this Agreement as a result of such Involuntary
Termination) will vest (x) as of immediately prior to such Change in Control in the case of an
Involuntary Termination prior to such Change in Control or (y) upon such Involuntary Termination
in the case of an Involuntary Termination in the twenty-four (24) month period following such
Change in Control, at the Change in Control Value. The approval of the Administrator shall be
required for any assumption or substitution by the Company or a successor entity described in the
foregoing sentence or in the following paragraph.
 
If (i) the Company consummates a Change in Control prior to the Cycle End Date, (ii) the Company
or a successor entity assumes the PSUs or substitutes equivalent restricted securities for the PSUs in
connection with such Change in Control and (iii) (A) your Service terminates for any reason more
than three (3) months prior to such Change in Control or (B) your Service terminates for a reason
other than an Involuntary Termination within three (3) months of such Change in Control, your
outstanding PSUs will vest as of immediately prior to such Change in Control at the Change in
Control Value.
 

Forfeiture of Unvested
PSUs

To the extent that some or all of the PSUs do not become vested based on achievement of the
Performance Goals set forth in Exhibit A and the online acceptance form accompanying this
Agreement for the Performance Cycle, such unvested PSUs and all Dividend Equivalent Rights
associated with such unvested PSUs, shall thereupon automatically be forfeited without payment of
any consideration therefor.
 

Dividend Equivalent Rights For each PSU that vests, a Dividend Equivalent Right shall become payable as of the vesting date.
Each Dividend Equivalent Right that becomes payable shall be paid in cash, unless otherwise
determined by the Company, at the time of settlement of the underlying PSUs, in an amount equal to
the total dividends per share of Stock with applicable record dates occurring during the period
beginning on the Grant Date and ending on the delivery date of the shares of Stock. If the PSU linked
to a Dividend Equivalent Right fails to vest or fails to remain outstanding and is forfeited for any
reason, then (a) the linked Dividend Equivalent Right shall be forfeited as well; (b) any amounts
otherwise payable in respect of such Dividend Equivalent Right shall be forfeited without payment;
and (c) the Company shall have no further obligations in respect of such Dividend Equivalent Right.
The Grantee shall not be entitled to any payment under



 a Dividend Equivalent Right with respect to any dividend with an applicable record date that occurs
prior to the Grant Date or after settlement of the PSU. Any payment in respect of Dividend
Equivalent Rights shall be treated separately from the PSUs for purposes of the designation of time
and form of payments required by Code Section 409A.

Delivery Delivery of the shares of Stock represented by your vested PSUs, if any, shall be made as soon as
administratively practicable after the date on which your PSUs vest, but in no event later than March
15  of the calendar year following such vesting date.
 

Evidence of Issuance The issuance of the shares of Stock with respect to the Grant of PSUs evidenced by this Agreement
shall be evidenced in such a manner as the Company, in its discretion, deems appropriate, including,
without limitation, book-entry, direct registration, or issuance of one or more share certificates. 

Forfeiture of Rights If you should take actions in material violation or material breach of or in material conflict with any
(a) Services Agreement, (b) secondment agreement, (c) Company policy or procedure, (d) other
agreement, or (e) any other obligation to any Applicable Entity, the Company has the right to cause
an immediate forfeiture of your rights to the PSUs under this Agreement, and you will immediately
forfeit the PSUs to the Company.
 
In addition, if you have vested in PSUs during the two (2)-year period prior to your actions, you will
owe the Company a cash payment (or forfeiture of shares of Stock) in an amount, net of any taxes
paid or required to be paid with respect to such PSUs, determined as follows: (a) for any shares of
Stock that you have sold prior to receiving notice from the Company, the amount will be the
proceeds received from the sale(s), and (b) for any shares of Stock that you still own, the amount
will be the number of shares of Stock owned times the Fair Market Value of the shares of Stock on
the date you receive notice from the Company (provided, that the Company may require you to
satisfy your payment obligations hereunder either by forfeiting and returning to the Company the
PSUs or any other shares of Stock or making a cash payment or a combination of these methods as
determined by the Company in its sole discretion).
 

Leaves of Absence For purposes of this Agreement, your Service does not terminate when you go on a bona fide leave
of absence that was approved by your employer in writing if the terms of the leave provide for
continued Service crediting, or when continued Service crediting is required by applicable law. Your
Service terminates in any event when the approved leave ends unless you immediately return to
active employee work.

th



Your employer may determine, in its discretion, which leaves count for this purpose, and when your
Service terminates for all purposes under the Plan in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may determine, in its discretion, that a leave counts
for this purpose even if your employer does not agree.
 

Withholding Taxes You agree as a condition of this Grant that you will make acceptable arrangements to pay any
withholding or other taxes that may be due as a result of the PSUs, the issuance of shares of Stock
with respect to the PSUs, or the payment of Dividend Equivalent Rights. In the event that any
Applicable Entity determines that any federal, state, local, or foreign tax or withholding payment is
required relating to the PSUs or Dividend Equivalent Rights, the Applicable Entity shall have the
right to require such payments from you, or withhold such amounts from other payments due to you
from the Applicable Entity (including withholding the delivery of vested shares of Stock otherwise
deliverable under this Agreement).
 

Retention Rights This Agreement and the Grant evidenced hereby do not give you the right to be retained by any
Applicable Entity in any capacity. Unless otherwise specified in an employment or other written
agreement between the Applicable Entity and you, the Applicable Entity reserves the right to
terminate your Service at any time and for any reason.
 

Stockholder Rights You have no rights as a stockholder with respect to the PSUs unless and until shares of Stock
relating to the PSUs have been issued to you and either a certificate evidencing your Stock has been
issued or an appropriate entry has been made on the Company’s books. Other than with respect to
the Dividend Equivalent Rights provided in this Agreement, no adjustment shall be made for a
dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date on which your share certificate
is issued (or an appropriate entry is made).
 
Your Grant shall be subject to the terms of any applicable agreement of merger, liquidation, or
reorganization in the event the Company is subject to such corporate activity.
 

Clawback This Grant is subject to mandatory repayment by you to the Company to the extent you are or in the
future become subject to any Company “clawback” or recoupment policy or any other Board-
approved clawback policy that requires the repayment by you to the Company of compensation paid
by the Company to you in the event that you fail to comply with, or violate, the terms or
requirements of such policy, or pursuant to any applicable laws which impose mandatory
recoupment.

 

Applicable Law This Agreement will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State of New York, other than
any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle that might otherwise refer construction or
interpretation of this Agreement to the substantive law of another jurisdiction.

 



The Plan The text of the Plan is incorporated into this Agreement by reference.
 
Certain capitalized terms used in this Agreement are defined in the Plan and have the meaning
set forth in the Plan.
 
This Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire understanding between you and the Company
regarding this Grant. Any prior agreements, commitments, or negotiations concerning this Grant are
superseded; except that any written employment, consulting, confidentiality, non-competition, non-
solicitation, and/or severance agreement between you and any Applicable Entity (each a “Services
Agreement”) shall supersede this Agreement with respect to its subject matter.
 

Data Privacy In order to administer the Plan, an Applicable Entity may process personal data about you. Such
data includes, but is not limited to, information provided in this Agreement and any changes thereto,
other appropriate personal and financial data about you, such as your contact information, payroll
information, and any other information that might be deemed appropriate by the Applicable Entity
to facilitate the administration of the Plan.
 
By accepting this Grant, you give explicit consent to any Applicable Entity to process any such
personal data.
 

Code Section 409A The Grant of PSUs under this Agreement is intended to be exempt from, or to comply with, Code
Section 409A to the extent subject thereto, and, accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted, this
Agreement will be interpreted and administered to be in compliance with Code Section 409A.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this Agreement, neither an Applicable Entity
nor the Administrator will have any obligation to take any action to prevent the assessment of any
excise tax or penalty on you under Code Section 409A, and neither an Applicable Entity nor the
Administrator will have any liability to you for such tax or penalty.
 
To the extent that the PSUs constitute “deferred compensation” under Section 409A, a termination
of Service occurs only upon an event that would be a “Separation from Service” within the meaning
of Section 409A. If, at the time of your Separation from Service, (a) you are a “specified employee”
within the meaning of Section 409A, and (b) the Company makes a good faith determination that an
amount payable on account of your Separation from Service constitutes deferred compensation
(within the meaning of Section 409A), the payment of which is required to be delayed pursuant to
the six (6)-month delay rule set forth in Section 409A to avoid taxes or penalties under Section
409A (the “Delay Period”), then the Company will not pay such amount on the otherwise scheduled
payment date but will instead pay it in a lump sum on the first business day after the Delay Period
(or upon your death, if earlier), without interest. Each installment of PSUs that vest under this
Agreement (if there is more than one installment) will be considered one of a series of separate
payments for purposes of Section 409A.
 



Certain Definitions For the purposes of this Agreement (including Exhibit A), the following terms shall be defined as
set forth below:
 
“Affiliate” means, with respect to the Company, any company or other trade or business that
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the Company within the meaning of Rule
405 of Regulation C under the Securities Act, including, without limitation, any Subsidiary or, in the
Administrator’s discretion, any majority-owned Subsidiary of the Company.
 
“Applicable Entity” means the Company and its Affiliates
 
“Cause” means, unless otherwise provided in a Services Agreement, with respect to any Grantee, as
determined by the Company, (a) repeated violations by such Grantee of such Grantee’s obligations
to the Applicable Entity (other than as a result of incapacity due to physical or mental illness) which
are demonstrably willful and deliberate on such Grantee’s part, which are committed in bad faith or
without reasonable belief that such violations are in the best interests of the Applicable Entity, and
which are not remedied within a reasonable period of time after such Grantee’s receipt of written
notice from the Applicable Entity specifying such violations; (b) the conviction of such Grantee of a
felony involving an act of dishonesty intended to result in substantial personal enrichment of such
Grantee at the expense of the Applicable Entity; or (c) prior to a Change in Control, such other
events as shall be determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion. Any determination by the
Administrator whether an event constituting Cause shall have occurred shall be final, binding, and
conclusive.
 
“Change in Control Value” means the greater of (i) your outstanding Target Number of PSUs or
(ii) the number of PSUs you have been entitled to in accordance with the vesting conditions set forth
in Exhibit A, (A) treating the end of the most recently completed fiscal year prior to the Change in
Control as the Cycle End Date, if vesting in connection with such Change in Control or (B) treating
the end of the most recently completed fiscal year prior to your termination of employment as the
Cycle End Date, if vesting following such Change in Control.
 
“Commencement Date” means the first day of the Performance Cycle.

“Cycle End Date” means the last day of the Performance Cycle or such earlier date determined
pursuant to the terms of the Plan or this Agreement.

“Disability” means, unless otherwise provided in a Services Agreement, the Grantee is unable to
perform each of the essential duties of such Grantee’s position by reason of a medically
determinable physical or mental impairment which is potentially permanent in character or which
can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months; provided,
however, that, with respect to rules regarding



expiration of an Incentive Stock Option following termination of the Grantee’s Service, Disability
shall mean the Grantee is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of a
medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or
which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve
(12) months.
 
“First Anniversary Date” means the first anniversary of the Commencement Date.
 
“Involuntary Termination” means termination of your Service by reason of (i) your involuntary
dismissal by an Applicable Entity for reasons other than Cause; or (ii) your voluntary resignation for
Good Reason as defined in a Services Agreement, or if none, then your voluntary resignation
following (x) a substantial adverse alteration in your title or responsibilities from those in effect
immediately prior to the Change in Control; (y) a reduction in your annual base salary as of
immediately prior to the Change in Control (or as the same may be increased from time to time) or a
material reduction in your annual target bonus opportunity as of immediately prior to the Change in
Control; or (z) the relocation of your principal place of employment to a location more than thirty-
five (35) miles from your principal place of employment as of the Change in Control or an
Applicable Entity requiring you to be based anywhere other than such principal place of
employment (or permitted relocation thereof) except for required travel on the Applicable Entity’s
business to an extent substantially consistent with your business travel obligations as of immediately
prior to the Change in Control. To qualify as an “Involuntary Termination” pursuant to clause (ii) in
the immediately preceding sentence, you must provide notice to the Applicable Entity of any of the
foregoing occurrences within ninety (90) days of the initial occurrence, and the Applicable Entity
shall have thirty (30) days to remedy such occurrence.
 
“Performance Cycle” has the meaning set forth on the online acceptance form accompanying this
Agreement.
 

“Second Anniversary Date” means the second anniversary of the Commencement Date.

“Service” means service as a Service Provider to any Applicable Entity. Unless otherwise stated in
the applicable award agreement, a Grantee’s change in position or duties shall not result in
interrupted or terminated Service, so long as such Grantee continues to be a Service Provider to any
Applicable Entity. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, for any individual providing
services solely as a director, only service to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries constitutes
Service. If the Service Provider’s employment or other service relationship is with an Affiliate of the
Company and that entity ceases to be an Affiliate of the Company, a termination of Service shall be
deemed to have occurred when the entity ceases to be an Affiliate of the Company unless otherwise
determined by the Administrator or the Service Provider transfers his or her employment or other
service relationship to the Company or its remaining Affiliates.

 



“Service Provider” means an officer, director (including a Non-Employee Director), employee, co-
employee, consultant or advisor providing services to an Applicable Entity.
 
“Third Anniversary Date” means the third anniversary of the Commencement Date.

By accepting and not rejecting this Agreement, you agree to all of the terms and conditions described above and in the Plan.



EXHIBIT A

DIGITALBRIDGE GROUP, INC.
2024 OMNIBUS STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

PERFORMANCE RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT
PERFORMANCE GOALS

1.    Generally. The PSUs (and their corresponding Dividend Equivalent Rights) shall vest in accordance with the provisions of this
Exhibit A. The number of PSUs that vest as of the Cycle End Date shall be rounded down to the nearest whole PSU, but in no event shall the
aggregate number of PSUs that vest and become payable in accordance with this award exceed 200% of the Target Number of PSUs.

2.    Performance Goals. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Plan, or a Services Agreement, the Grantee shall be
eligible to become vested, as of the Cycle End Date, in a number of PSUs based on the Company’s achievement of the Performance Goals,
which includes attainment of a certain Performance Measure during the Performance Cycle and the Company’s TSR Percentile for the
Performance Cycle, determined in accordance with the following formula:

 
Number of Vested PSUs = Target Number of PSUs x Performance

Percentage
x Relative TSR Modifier

3.    Performance Percentage. The “Performance Percentage” shall be determined based on the Performance Measure for the
Performance Cycle, in accordance with the following:

Performance Measure for the
Performance Cycle

Performance Percentage

Below Threshold < $ [ ] 0%

Threshold    $ [ ]  [ ]%

Target    $ [ ]  [ ]%

Maximum ≥ $ [ ]  [ ]%

If the Performance Measure for the Performance Cycle is greater than the “Threshold” level and is between two points set forth above, then
the Performance Percentage shall be determined by linear interpolation between such points.

4.    Relative TSR Modifier. The “Relative TSR Modifier” shall be determined on the Company’s TSR Percentile for the
Performance Cycle, in accordance with the following:

TSR Percentile for the Performance
Cycle

Relative TSR Modifier

Threshold        ≤ [ ]  percentile                    [ ]

Target             [ ]  percentile  [ ]

Maximum        ≥ [ ]  percentile  [ ]

th

th

th



(a)    If the TSR Percentile is greater than the “Threshold” level and is between two points set forth above, then the Relative TSR
Modifier shall be determined by linear interpolation between such points.

(b)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Exhibit A, in the event that the Company’s TSR is negative for the Performance
Cycle, the maximum Relative TSR Modifier shall be capped at 1.00.

5.    Certification. Promptly following the completion of the Performance Cycle, the Administrator will review and certify (a)
whether, and to what extent, the Performance Goals for the Performance Cycle have been achieved and (b) the number of PSUs, if any, that
vested as of the Cycle End Date. Such certification will be final, conclusive, and binding.

6.    Definitions. The capitalized terms below shall have the following meanings for purposes of the Agreement, including this
Exhibit A. Capitalized terms that are used but not defined herein shall have the meanings provided in the Plan or in the Agreement to which
this Exhibit A is attached.

a.    “Fair Market Value” means, as of a given date, the average of the closing prices of the shares of Stock on a national securities
exchange over the twenty (20) trading day period leading up to and including such date.

b.    “Final Per Share Value” means the Fair Market Value of one (1) share of Stock as of the Cycle End Date.

c.    “Initial Per Share Value” means the Fair Market Value of one (1) share of Stock as of the Commencement Date.

d.    “Peer Group Companies” means, the list of peer group companies approved by the compensation committee of the Board as
listed below that comprise the Dow Jones U.S. Asset Managers Index; provided, however:

(i)    In the event that a company listed as part of the Peer Group Companies experiences a merger, acquisition, spinoff, or
other corporate transaction in which the company is not the surviving entity or ceases to be a company listed on an established securities
market, such company shall be eliminated from the Peer Group Companies for the entire Performance Cycle and shall not be treated as a
constituent member of the Peer Group Companies for purposes of the calculations under this Exhibit A. In such a situation, for purposes of
the calculations under this Exhibit A, the remaining companies shall constitute the Peer Group Companies.

(ii)    In the event that a company listed as part of the Peer Group Companies enters bankruptcy during the Performance
Cycle, such company shall be placed at the lowest rank in the Peer Group Companies when determining the TSR Percentile.

[List of Companies]

e.    “Performance Measure” means [ ].

f.    “TSR” means the percentage appreciation (positive or negative) in the Fair Market Value of one (1) share of Stock from the
Commencement Date to the Cycle End Date, determined by dividing (1) the sum of (A) the excess of the Final Per Share Value over the
Initial Per Share Value, plus (B) the aggregate dividends (including special dividends) per share of stock with a record date on or after the
Commencement Date and prior to or on the Cycle End Date (assuming the reinvestment of dividends as calculated by a third party such as
Appraisal Economics), by (2) the Initial Per Share Value. In the event of a change in capitalization that occurs during the Performance Cycle,
the Administrator shall make



appropriate adjustments to TSR or the component measures thereunder as it determines, in its sole discretion, to be necessary to maintain the
Grantee’s rights hereunder so that they are substantially proportionate to the rights existing under this Agreement prior to such change in
capitalization.

g.    “TSR Percentile” means, as of the Cycle End Date, the percentile ranking (as determined in accordance with standard statistical
methodology) of the Company’s TSR over the Performance Cycle as compared to the range of total shareholder return of the component
companies among the Peer Group Companies (calculated in a manner consistent with TSR calculations under this Exhibit A) over the
Performance Cycle.



Notice of Restricted Stock Units Award of DigitalBridge Group, Inc.

Company Name DigitalBridge Group, Inc.
Plan DigitalBridge Group, Inc. 2024 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan

Grantee ID /$OptioneeID$/
Grantee Name /$ParticipantName$/
Grantee Address /$ParticipantAddress$/
Grant/Award Type PSUs
Grant Unit Price

Closing Price on Commencement Date

Target Number of PSUs*

$[__]

$[__]

/$AwardsGranted$/

Grant Date [__]
Cycle End Date [__]
Performance Cycle The period beginning on [__] and ending on the Cycle End Date.
*Subject to reduction pursuant to the terms of the Award Agreement.
Vesting Conditions: The vesting conditions for this award are set forth in the Agreement, including Exhibit A.



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Marc C. Ganzi, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of DigitalBridge Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 3, 2024 /s/ Marc C. Ganzi
Marc C. Ganzi

Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Thomas Mayrhofer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of DigitalBridge Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 3, 2024 /s/ Thomas Mayrhofer
Thomas Mayrhofer

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of DigitalBridge Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the three months ended
March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Marc C. Ganzi, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my
knowledge:

(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

Date: May 3, 2024 /s/ Marc C. Ganzi
Marc C. Ganzi

 Chief Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C §1350 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or incorporated by reference in any registration statement of the
Company filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of DigitalBridge Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the three months ended
March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas Mayrhofer, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,
to my knowledge:

(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

Date: May 3, 2024 /s/ Thomas Mayrhofer
Thomas Mayrhofer

Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C §1350 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or incorporated by reference in any registration statement of the
Company filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


